
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Meeting: Wednesday, 14th October, 2020
at 2.00 pm (Virtual Meeting)

A G E N D A

VIRTUAL MEETING - Link to view Live Stream via YouTube 

This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in physical location 
following guidelines set out in Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.

Note: The Council will be live streaming the meeting on to the Barrow Borough Council 
YouTube Chanel and can be watched live via the below link.

The whole of the meeting will be recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt 
items.

To view the meeting online click this link

PART ONE 

1.  Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.  

2.  Urgent Items

To note any items which the Chairman considers to be of an urgent 
nature. 

3.  Delegations

To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting.

4.  Admission of Public and Press

To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda.

5.  Declarations of Interest

To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda. 

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting).

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBYFa9sjxuGwCW5BQwu9mlw/live


Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.  

6.  Confirmation of Minutes

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 16th September, 2020.

5 - 18

7.  Public Participation

Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting 
should apply to do so by no later than 5pm two working days before 
the meeting. Information on how to make the application can be 
obtained by viewing the Council’s website www.barrowbc.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Democratic Services Team at 
(jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk) or by telephone on (07825206525).
 
(1) Questions and Representations

To receive any questions or representations which have been 
received from members of the public

 
(2) Deputations and Petitions

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been 
received from members of the public.

8.  #BrilliantBarrow Presentations

Tackling inequalities in sport and physical activity during Covid-19 

Presentation by Emma Broadbent (Active Cumbria)

Furness Youth Work Partnership – Furness Scarecrow 
Avenue/Street

Presentation by Cath Corkill (Drop Zone) and Les McLeese (Leonard 
CheshireYouthability)

FOR DECISION 

(D) 9.  Draft Building Safety Bill  

To note the anticipated major changes / impacts on Building Control 
as a consequence of the proposed changes to the Building Act 1984 
and the publication of the Draft Fire Safety Bill.

19 - 36

(D) 10.  Corporate Enforcement Policy  

To consider the Corporate Enforcement Policy.

37 - 54

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/


(D) 11.  Waste and Recycling Collection Policy  

To consider the Waste and Recycling Collection Policy.

55 - 76

(D) 12.  COVID-19 Self-Isolation Payments  

To receive a report on the COVID-19 Self-Isolation Payments 
Scheme.

77 - 82

NOTE (D) – Delegated
(R) – For Referral to Council

Membership of Committee

Councillors Barlow
Biggins
Blezard
Brook (Chairman)
H. Edwards
Hamilton
Maddox
W. McClure
Morgan
Pemberton
L. Roberts (Vice-Chair)
Ronson

For queries regarding this agenda, please contact:

Jon Huck
Democratic Services Manager
07825206525
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk

Published: Tuesday 6th October 2020



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
14 October 2020

Local Government Reform (building a case for change)

 
Report from:  Chief Executive

Report Author: Director of Resources

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, has 

invited the principal authorities in Cumbria to submit a proposal for a single tier of 
local government.

1.2 This report seeks additional funding to support the work required to consider and 
submit a proposal.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:- 

(1) Delegate to the Chief Executive and Director of Resources, in consultation 
with the Chair of the Executive Committee approval to draw down funding 
from the Budget Contingency reserve for external consultancy services in 
preparing a proposal for government. 

(2) Agree to the waiving of contract procedural rules with regards to the 
appointment of consultants and authorise the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Director of Resources and Chair of the 
Executive Committee, to agree and appoint consultants for the 
purpose of developing a proposal for submission prior to the 
deadlines set by the MHCLG.

(3) Note that further reports will be brought back to Executive 
Committee/Full Council to agree any proposal prior to submission to 
Government.

3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 Members will be aware that at Council on 29 September 2020, Members 

approved exploring Local Government Reform and devolution, including the 
development of a high level case for a new Unitary Council for the area 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



comprising Barrow Borough, Lancaster City and South Lakeland Councils. It was 
also noted that the Secretary of State may then invite the Council to put forward 
a formal proposal which would be subject to future agreement.

3.2 Prior to consideration of a high level case, the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his powers under Part 1 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, has now 
invited any principal authority in the area of the county of Cumbria to submit a 
proposal for a single tier of local government, in accordance with the following 
criteria:

1. By 9 November 2020 authorities must at least submit an outline proposal, 
and if a full proposal has not been submitted by that date, the full proposal 
must be submitted as soon as practicable thereafter and by no later than 9 
December 2020.

2. Authorities must have regard to the guidance from the Secretary of State.
3. An authority may either make its own proposal or make a proposal jointly.

3.3 In exploring devolution around the Bay area, Barrow, Lancaster and South 
Lakeland Councils had started work to prepare a high level case. This work will 
be considered in terms of the outline proposal required to meet the guidance set 
out by the Secretary of State in responding to an invitation to make a proposal.

3.4 Additional resources will be required to support this and members are requested 
to delegate approval for the Chief Executive and Director of Resources, in 
consultation with the Chair of the Executive Committee to draw down funding from the 
Budget Contingency reserve to help develop the proposal for submission.

3.5 Members are also requested to agree to the waiving of contract procedural rules 
with regards to appointment of consultants and authorise the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Director of Resources and Chair of Executive Committee to 
agree and appoint consultants for the purpose of developing a proposal for 
submission prior to the deadlines set by the MHCLH. 

3.6 A decision on whether to submit a proposal will be presented to a future meeting 
of the Executive Committee and full Council prior to submission to the Secretary 
of State.

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the content of this report but consultation on the 

proposal when it is worked up will be the subject of consultation.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 The Council may choose not to submit a proposal for a single tier authority.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The recommendations relate to the future model of local government for Barrow 

Borough Council which impacts local service delivery.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1 The financial implications to support the development of the proposal are the use 

of reserves; £15k was approved and current estimates suggest a further £45k 
may be required to support the Borough Council’s share of the estimated costs 
to develop a full proposal which would take the figure to £60k to be set aside for 
the work.  At the date of this meeting figures are still to be firmed up, and it is 
therefore requested that the use of reserves is delegated in consultation with the 
Chair of the Executive Committee and subsequently reported back.  

7.2 There will be an additional burden upon officers of the Council but it is not 
possible to quantify that or to know how that will be incorporated into current 
demands but Management Team will need to address that.

Legal 
7.3 The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in 

exercise of his powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 has invited the principal authorities in Cumbria to 
make a proposal in accordance with the attached letter (appendix 1).

7.4. Section 3(5) of the 2007 Act requires authorities to have regard to guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State as to: “what a proposal should seek to achieve”; 
and “matters that should be taken into account in formulating a proposal”.  

7.5 Guidance for this invitation is set out in the Schedule to the letter in Appendix 1 
which states as follows:

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment 
of a single tier of local government that is the establishment of one or more 
unitary authorities:

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across the 
area of the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating savings, 
providing stronger strategic and local leadership, and which are more sustainable 
structures;

b. which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round overall 
across the whole area of the proposal; and

c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting of 
one or more existing local government areas with an aggregate population which 
is either within the range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



regard to the circumstances of  the authority,  including  local  identity  and  
geography,  could  be considered substantial.

2. The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:

a. A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government structures 
it is putting forward, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to 
achieve the outcomes described in paragraph 1 above.

b. The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any explanation 
of the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of a good deal of 
local support.

c. The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local boundaries and 
geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary authority crosses existing police 
force and fire and rescue authority boundaries, the proposal should include an 
assessment of what the impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and rescue 
authorities and include the views of the relevant Police and Crime Commissioners 
and Fire and Rescue Authorities.

d. Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around promoting 
economic recovery and growth, including possible future devolution deals and 
Mayoral Combined Authorities.

e. If the proposal submitted by 9 November 2020 is an outline proposal it should 
indicate what further material is expected to be provided and when this would be 
submitted which should be no later than 9 December 2020

Equality and Diversity 
7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the report has no direct 

Equality and Diversity implications but an analysis will be required on any formal 
Proposal.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
The Council’s preferred single 
tier authority is not submitted.

An alternative single tier 
authority is submitted 
and progresses.

Work programme 
including timetable.  
Project management.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
The Council’s preferred single 
tier authority is submitted but 
is not progressed.

An alternative single tier 
authority is submitted 
and progresses.

Strong evidence base for 
proposals.

Contact Officers 
S M Roberts, directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

mailto:directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk


Appendices
Appendix 1 Letter from MHCLG – 9 October 2020

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 2007  

INVITATION FOR PROPOSALS FOR A SINGLE TIER OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT  

 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his 

powers under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, 

hereby invites any principal authority in the area of the county of Cumbria to submit a proposal  

for a single tier of local government, in accordance with paragraphs 1 to 3 below.  

1. If an authority wishes to make a proposal in response to this invitation it must submit by 9 

November 2020 at least an outline proposal, and if a full proposal has not been submitted by 

that date, the full proposal must be submitted as soon as practicable thereafter and by no later 

than 9 December 2020. 

 2. In responding to this invitation an authority must have regard to the guidance from the 

Secretary of State set out in the Schedule to this invitation, and to any further guidance on 

responding to this invitation received from the Secretary of State.  

 3. An authority responding to this invitation may either make its own proposal or make a 

proposal jointly with any of the other authorities invited to respond.  

 

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government.   

 

 

P Rowsell  

A senior civil servant in the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

9 October 2020 

 

  

  

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 2
Appendix 1



SCHEDULE  

Paragraphs 1 to 2 below set out guidance from the Secretary of State.  

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the area concerned the establishment of a single tier 

of local government, that is the establishment of one or more unitary authorities:  

a. which are likely to improve local government and service delivery across the area of 

the proposal, giving greater value for money, generating savings, providing stronger 

strategic and local leadership, and which are more sustainable structures;  

b. which command a good deal of local support as assessed in the round overall across 

the whole area of the proposal; and 

c. where the area of each unitary authority is a credible geography consisting of one 

or more existing local government areas with an aggregate population which is either 

within the range 300,000 to 600,000, or such other figure that, having regard to the 

circumstances of the authority, including local identity and geography, could be 

considered substantial. 

 2. The following matters should be taken into account in formulating a proposal:  

a. A proposal should describe clearly the single tier local government structures it is 

putting forward, and explain how, if implemented, these are expected to achieve the 

outcomes described in paragraph 1 above. 

 b. The need for evidence and analysis to support a proposal and any explanation of 

the outcomes it is expected to achieve, including evidence of a good deal of local 

support. 

c. The impact of any proposed unitary authorities on other local boundaries and 

geographies. If the area of any proposed unitary authority crosses existing police force 

and fire and rescue authority boundaries, the proposal should include an assessment 

of what the impact would be on the police forces and/or fire and rescue authorities and 

include the views of the relevant Police and Crime Commissioners and Fire and 

Rescue Authorities.   

d. Any wider context for any proposed unitary authorities around promoting economic 

recovery and growth, including possible future devolution deals and Mayoral 

Combined Authorities. 

e. If the proposal submitted by 9 November 2020 is an outline proposal it should 

indicate what further material is expected to be provided and when this would be 

submitted which should be no later than 9 December 2020. 

    

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 2
Appendix 1



EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

 Meeting: Wednesday 16th September, 2020
 at 2.00 pm. (Virtual Meeting)

PRESENT:- Councillors Brook (Chairman), Roberts (Vice-Chairman), Barlow, 
Biggins, Blezard, H. Edwards, Hamilton, McClure, Maddox, Morgan, Pemberton and 
Ronson.

Officers Present:- Sam Plum (Chief Executive), Susan Roberts (Director of 
Resources), Steph Cordon (Director of People and Place), Debbie Storr (Head of 
Legal and Governance & Monitoring Officer), Caroline Wagstaff (Operations 
Manager - Housing) (Minute Nos. 32-36 inclusive only) , Rebecca Halton (Business 
Support Manager - Housing) (Minute Nos. 32-36 inclusive only), Les Davies 
(Maintenance and Asset Manager - Housing) (Minute Nos. 32-36 inclusive only), 
Graham Barker (Public Protection Manager) (Minute No. 38 only), David Joyce 
(Commercial Estate Manager), Jon Huck (Democratic Services Manager) and 
Sandra Kemsley (Democratic Services Officer).

32 – The Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006

Discussion arising hereon it was

RESOLVED:- That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 (Minute No. 41) of Part One of Schedule 12A of the said Act.

33 – Admission of the Press and Public

It was noted that the Low Carbon Barrow/Zero Carbon Cumbria Report (Minute No. 
40) circulated to Members as a Part Two report would now be a Part One item as 
announcement of grant award had been made public on the morning of 14th 
September, 2020 and was now in the public domain.

34 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 27th July, 2020 were agreed as a correct record.

35 – Public Participation

RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions 
had been received in respect of the meeting.

36 – Housing Management Forum: Recommendations

The recommendations of the Housing Management Forum held on 9th September, 
2020 were submitted for consideration.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



N.B. The Minutes are reproduced as Appendix 1 to the Minutes of this meeting.

RESOLVED:- That the recommendations of the Housing Management Forum be 
agreed, as follows:-

Adelphi Court – Further Extension of Lease

1. To agree to renew the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond Fellowship to 
31st May, 2021 on same terms and rent; and

2. To delegate authority to the Assistant Director - Housing to determine rent and 
terms to renew the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond Fellowship to 31st 
May, 2021.

United Utilities Contract for the Collection of Water

To agree to the renewal of the contract between the Council and United Utilities for a 
further five years (2021-2026) as detailed within the report.

Disabled Adaptations

To approve the proposed disabled adaptation works at 28 Ruskin Avenue, Dalton-in-
Furness with an estimated cost value of £30,000 and 9 Raglan Court, Barrow-in-
Furness with an estimated cost value of £25,000.

37 – Council Finances

The Director of Resources presented a summary of the financial outturn for 2019-
2020 and an update regarding the 2020-2021 budget provision.

The Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement had been published 
in draft on the Council’s website on 27 August 2020.  The appointed auditors would 
report their findings to the Audit and Governance Committee on 26 November 2020.

She also noted that the Statement of Accounts was the statutory presentation of the 
Council’s financial performance for 2019-2020.  The Narrative Report section also 
contained non-financial information for the year in order to provide a complete 
picture of the Council’s affairs for the financial year.

It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and

RESOLVED:- To agree:-

1. To note the financial outturn for 2019-2020 including the financial reserves;

2. To note that the 2019-2020 net underspend of £146k had been added to the 
earmarked reserves;

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



3. To note the current Medium Term Financial Plan projections;

4. To note the amounts written off after recovery action had taken place; and

5. To approve the use of £15k from the Budget Contingency reserve for external 
consultancy services in relation to devolution.

38 – Food Safety Service Plan 2020/21

The Public Protection Manager reminded the Committee that the Council was 
required to prepare a documented Food Safety Service Plan for the areas of food 
law that it had a duty to enforce and set out how the authority intended to deliver 
Official Controls within the Borough.

The Committee considered a copy of the Food Safety Service Plan 2020/21.

He reported that under normal circumstances, the Food Safety Service Plan would 
be reviewed in February and March and considered by this Committee at the earliest 
opportunity within the Committee cycle.  The food hygiene inspection programme 
had recommenced on 1 August 2020.

The plan also recognised the continued need to rely on qualified agency contractors 
to assist the service in delivering Official Controls, whilst EHO posts remained 
vacant.

RESOLVED:- 

1. To agree the Food Safety Service Plan for 2020-21; and

2. To continue to support the use of qualified agency contractors whilst EHO posts 
remained vacant.

39 – LGA Peer Review and Improvement Plan

The Chief Executive’s report advised Members of the outcome of the Local 
Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer Review which had been undertaken 
in February 2020.

The report provided an updated of the improvement plan following the LGA 
Governance Review which had been approved by this Committee on 5 February 
2020, and had incorporated actions arising from both reviews into a combined 
updated action plan which would be further developed as detailed in the report.

The report also provided an update on how the improvement plan would help 
contribute to delivering the Covid-19 Growing Forward priorities as detailed in the 
report to this Committee on 8 July, 2020.

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



RESOLVED:- To agree:-

1. To receive the LGA Peer Assessment report; and

2. To note the update on the Governance Review actions and proposals for a 
combined improvement plan.

40 – Low Carbon Barrow/Zero Carbon Cumbria

The Director of People and Place reminded the Committee that the Low Carbon 
Barrow funding bid and programme previously approved by members had been 
given in principle support subject to formal funding agreements.  The programme 
would allow the Council to deliver various projects in support of the objectives of the 
Climate Change Policy and Action Plan.

The programme of works would allow the Council to improve the energy efficiency of 
its buildings and housing stock, to provide energy saving grants to businesses and 
community groups in the Borough, to install electric vehicle charging points, to 
establish Piel Island as a zero carbon community.  In addition, Art Gene would carry 
out demonstration projects and community engagement work to help people reduce 
their carbon emissions.  The report also outlined the proposed approach and 
approvals required for delivery of the programme.

Cumbria Action for Sustainability (CAfS) had been successful in obtaining funding for 
a £2.5m “Zero Carbon Cumbria” programme.  That was a multi-agency partnership 
with almost 70 participating organisations and would have a number of tangible 
benefits for Barrow.

It was moved by Councillor Blezard and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and

To unanimously agree:-

1. To note the progress with the Low Carbon Barrow project;

2. To authorise the Director of People and Place, in consultation with the Director 
of Resources and the Chair of the Executive Committee -

 a) To agree as part of the funding agreement establish a policy for delivery 
of the Low Carbon Barrow Grants;

 b) To procure any necessary consultancy resources within the terms of the 
funding agreement to facilitate effective delivery of the programme;

c) To establish a partnership board to oversee the programme;
d) To enter into a funding agreement with Art Gene to allow them to deliver 

the project elements for which they were responsible; and

3. To note and endorse the progress with the Zero Carbon Cumbria programme.

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Local Government Act 1972 – Excluded Item

It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Maddox that the 
meeting moves into Part Two, and

RESOLVED:- That the item to be taken in Part Two of the Agenda be dealt with 
following the exclusion of the press and the public.

41 – Strategic Acquisitions – Accelerated Towns Fund

The Director of People and Place’s report provided a detailed list of potential sites 
that the Council could purchase utilising the Accelerated Towns Fund resource.

As the funds had to be spent by 31 March 2021, the report was asking for Members 
agreement to potential acquisitions and to delegate authority to the Director of 
People and Place to proceed with those acquisitions when the resource was finally 
agreed.

It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and

RESOLVED:- To unanimously agree:-

1. To note the proposals for potential acquisition as detailed within the report; 

2. To delegate authority to the Director of People and Place, in consultation with 
the Director of Resources and Chair of Executive Committee to proceed with 
the acquisitions that were within the key themes and agree the final terms of 
acquisition subject to confirmation of the Accelerated Towns Fund award; and

3. To include the Accelerated Towns Fund in the Capital Programme.

REFERRED ITEMS

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION

42 – Member Role Profiles

The Monitoring Officer reported that it was good practice to have role descriptions for 
Councillors.  They assisted in Members understanding of the roles, and were 
available for people who may wish to know more about the role of the Councillor, 
and for those that may be thinking of standing for election.

Members had indicated through the governance review that they would welcome 
further development of the role of spokesperson and the LGA governance review 
recommended that the roles of spokesperson be reviewed and a role description 
developed that included the key requirements that would be expected of Members 
who take on the role.  Subsequent feedback had proposed that they be renamed 
Lead Members for the relevant area.  The draft profiles had included a suggested 
role profile for a Lead Member.  A review of the relevant areas had been undertaken 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



linked to the new Council Plan with proposals for the following Lead Members to 
replace existing spokesperson roles.

People

1. Community - Thriving communities, community development, voluntary 
sector;

2. Health and Wellbeing - Health and wellbeing across whole community and 
supporting older adults; and

3. Children, young people and families -‘Think Family’, supporting children and 
young people, schools and colleges.

Place

4. Climate Emergency - Lead the Councils response to climate emergency;
5. Cleaner and greener neighbourhoods - Cleaner streets, parks, environment;
6. Heritage and Wildlife - Heritage and wildlife, site and habitat protection, 

conservation, Beautiful Places;
7. Housing Strategy and Homelessness (excluding Housing Stock); and
8. Arts, Culture and Leisure – Arts, Culture, Forum, Dock Museum and Leisure 

Centre.

Prosperity

9. Economic development and strategic partnerships - Wider economic issues, 
LEP, Lancaster South Lakes, major projects, COVID recovery.

Cross cutting

10 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion - Inclusive and diverse workplace, trained 
council and workforce, fair and accessible services for all.

The Member Training Working Group had considered the draft role profiles and 
following their feedback they were being recommended to Council for approval for 
incorporation into the Council’s Constitution.  Under the Chair’s profiles, the Chair of 
the Executive Committee had also been identified as Finance spokesperson for the 
Council.

The Member Training Working Group also recommended that within six months of 
being appointed Chair that a Member should attend Chairs Training and attend all 
other relevant training including all required training to ensure sufficient knowledge of 
the subject area for which they were Chair in order to effectively run the Committee 
or Council Meeting and that if they failed to attend such training that may result in the 
Member being removed as Chair.

Consideration had also been given as to whether the Council should seek annual 
reports from Members appointed to Outside Bodies as well as from Chairs and Lead 
Members at its AGM.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been requested to 
consider a review and rationalisation of Outside Bodies.

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



The Member Training Working Group had developed a template for feedback which 
was considered and Council was recommended to ask Members to provide an 
annual report if appointed to Outside Bodies or on their work as Lead Members. 

The Member Training Group had recommended that if adopted that be brought in 
two phases, with the Leader, Deputy Leader, Chairs of Committees and Lead 
Members completing it in the first phase and for other Members on Outside Bodies 
being included in phase 2 for the 2021/22 municipal year.

It was moved by Councillor Maddox and seconded by Councillor Blezard, and

RECOMMENDED: - To agree to recommend to Council:-

1. That the role of Official Spokesperson be replaced by Lead Members as 
detailed within paragraph 3.2 of the report;

2. That the Member role profiles as attached as Appendix 1 to the report be 
agreed for incorporation into the Council’s Constitution; 

3. That Members on Outside Bodies, Chairs and Lead Members should be 
requested to provide an annual report to Council based on the template as 
attached at Appendix 2 on the work of the body and its contribution to the 
Borough and the wider area with implementation as detailed within the report; 
and

4. That training for Chairs should be undertaken within six months of becoming a 
Chair.

43 – Amended Code of Conduct for Members

The Monitoring Officer reported that on 30 July 2020 the Audit and Governance 
Committee had considered the draft Model Code of Conduct which had been 
produced by the Local Government Association in response to recommendations 
arising from the Committee on Standards in Public Life following their report on Local 
Government Ethical Standards which had been published in January 2019.  The 
recommendations provided some best practice recommendations, one of which had 
included a recommendation to the Local Government Association that they create an 
updated model code of conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of 
councillors and officers of all tiers of local government.

Members of that Committee had asked that an earlier review be undertaken of the 
Council’s code with regards in particular to bullying and social media provisions with 
a report for consideration by Members at the earliest opportunity.

The Committee for Standards in Public Life in their report also had identified some 
best practice recommendations which represented a benchmark for ethical practice 
and which they expected any local authority should implement.  Feedback on the 
best practice recommendations was being sought in the Autumn on progress on 
these and a further report would be taken to the Audit and Governance Committee to 
review them.

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



The principal proposed amendments to the Code of Conduct at this stage add:

(i) an obligation not to bully or harass any person;
(ii) definitions of ‘bullying’ and ‘harassment’;
(iii) examples of behaviour amounting to bullying or harassment;
(iv) requirement to comply with any protocol which the Council seeks to regulate 

conduct through; and
(v) requirement to co-operate with any standards investigation and prohibiting 

trivial or malicious allegations against another councillor.

Social Media had also been flagged as an area where more guidance was needed.  
Guidance around the code and social media was being reviewed and would be 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee for feedback and endorsement 
when the amendments to the Code had been determined following which it was 
proposed that training would be provided to all Members. 

The Member Training Working Group had recommended that training on the Code of 
Conduct for Members should be required on induction, following any revisions to the 
code, and offered after ordinary elections with a report to Audit and Governance 
Committee on attendance at such training.

The Code of Conduct incorporating all the above amendments was considered by 
the Committee.

Though not legally required to do so, parish and town councils within the borough 
had customarily adopted the code of conduct of their ‘principal authority’.  That 
achieved consistency across the borough and enabled members who were 
town/parish and district councillors to work to a common code.  If approved the 
amended code would be made available with a view to them adopting it.

RECOMMENDED: - To agree to recommend to Council:-

1. To agree adoption of the amended Code of Conduct for Members as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report;

2. Subject to the amendments being confirmed by Council that the Monitoring 
Officer make the amended Code of Conduct available to all town and parish 
Councils in the Borough of Barrow, with a view to those councils adopting it for 
consistency; and

3. To agree that training for Members on the Code of Conduct was required for all 
Members and co-opted Members of the Council as detailed within the report.

The meeting closed at 3.21 pm.

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



HOUSING MANAGEMENT FORUM

Meeting: Wednesday 9th September, 2020
at 2.00 pm. (Virtual Meeting)

PRESENT:- Councillors Hamilton (Chairman), Barlow, Blezard, Brook, Burley, 
Gawne, McEwan and Robson.

Tenant Representative:- Mrs M. Anderson.

Officers Present:- Janice Sharp (Assistant Director - Housing), Paula Westwood 
(Democratic Services Officer - Member Support) and Sandra Kemsley (Democratic 
Services Officer).

1 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members

Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor McClure and Mr. J. Christie 
(Tenant Representative).

2 – The Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006

Discussion arising hereon it was

RESOLVED:- That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 2 (Minute No. 8) of Part One of Schedule 12A of the said Act.

3 – Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 9th March, 2020 were taken as read and 
confirmed.

The Chairman requested that the Assistant Director - Housing send a letter to Allan 
McIntosh thanking him for his services as a Tenant Representative on the Forum for 
the past 18 years.

4 – Public Participation

RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions 
had been received in respect of the meeting.

5 – Terms of Reference

RESOLVED:- To note the revised Terms of Reference for the Housing Management 
Forum.

Page 21

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



6 – Adelphi Court – Further Extension of Lease

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted a report regarding a proposed extension 
of the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond Fellowship which had expired on 31st 
July 2020.  

She advised that the Council had agreed a lease with Croftlands Trust (now merged 
with Richmond Fellowship) to take over the management of Adelphi Court with the 
primary purpose of providing supported housing for people with mental health.

The lease had been granted on 4th March, 2015 for a period of five years, ending 3rd 
March 2020.  The Assistant Director - Housing had confirmed with Richmond 
Fellowship that they wished to continue to manage and provide supported housing, 
dependent on them being successful when Cumbria County Council re-tender the 
support providers framework and award funding accordingly to cover the cost of 
providing support for a further five years.

The current funding Richmond Fellowship received, provided by Cumbria County 
Council, had been extended to 31st July 2020 and, as such, the lease which had 
been due to expire on 3rd March, 2020 had been extended to 31st July 2020, 
following Members’ agreement at Housing Management Forum on 16th January 
2020. 

Richmond Fellowship had now advised that due to Covid-19, Cumbria County 
Council had deferred the re-tendering process of the framework until May 2021 and 
extended the funding accordingly. 

The current lease had been held over until agreement had been given to further 
extend the lease by Members.  She reported that the project had been successful in 
enabling 11 residents to be accommodated independently in one-bedroomed flats 
supported by staff to sustain their tenancies with Richmond Fellowship.

Members had been requested to agree the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond 
Fellowship be extended to May 2021 (not may 2020 as state in the report), when the 
re-tendering of the framework by Cumbria County Council would be due for 
completion.

The meeting was adjourned at 2.13 pm. to rectify sound problems which had 
occurred with the live stream to YouTube.

The meeting reconvened at 2.57 pm.

RECOMMENDED:- 

1. To agree to renew the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond Fellowship to 30th 
May 2021 on the same terms and rent; and

Page 22

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



2. To delegate authority to the Assistant Director - Housing to determine rent and 
terms to renew the lease for Adelphi Court with Richmond Fellowship to 31st 
May 2021.

7 – United Utilities Contract for the Collection of Water

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted a report regarding the renewal of the 
Contract with United Utilities for the collection of water charges.  She advised that the 
Council had entered into an arrangement to collect water charges on behalf of United 
Utilities from April 2013 and that Officers had been in discussions with United Utilities 
representatives regarding the options for moving forward when the contract would 
end on 31st March, 2021.

The purpose of the report was to consider whether the Council would like to continue 
with the current arrangements.  Should a decision be made to cease water charge 
collection, the Council would be required to serve notice in October 2020 to cease 
from 31st March, 2021. 

There had been a number of positive benefits for both Tenants and the Council, 
including reduced charges to Tenants, the funding of a full-time role within the 
Housing Service to focus on financial inclusion and to generate additional income 
and resources for the Housing Revenue Account.  

In addition, it had been recognised that the proposed changes for those Tenants who 
had no experience of paying rent and the roll-out of welfare reform (in particular, 
Universal Credit) that the introduction of the collection of water and the commission 
subsequently received, provided the Council the opportunity to work with Tenants on 
money management, including assisting them to set up bank accounts.

Financial Benefits

For Tenants

 Every Tenant received a £10 annual discount on their water charge whilst the 
Council operated the scheme. 

 The commission received continued to assist funding the Money Management 
Adviser role and administrative costs of circa £14,000 per annum.  This role had 
enabled 897 Tenants to reduce their water charges by £206,444 per year by 
receiving assistance to apply for United Utilities’ Back on Track and Help to Pay 
schemes.  This reduced the average weekly charge to £6.75. 

For the Council

 The commission received continued to fund the Money Management Adviser 
role. This role enabled the Housing Service to help Tenants to sustain their 
tenancies, reduce arrears and maximise income to the Housing Revenue 
Account;

Page 23

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 Officers were aware that a proportion of the overall arrears figures had been 
accounted for by non-payment or under-payment of water rates.  The Money 
Management Advisor role continued to work hard to support vulnerable Tenants 
who may be struggling financially;

 The Assistant Director – Housing advised that she had been unable to provide a 
conclusive answer to the net benefit to the HRA of the commission received as 
water arrears would need to be offset against this income.  Unfortunately the 
way water rates were currently charged to rent accounts did not allow 
differentiating of water arrears from other arrears.  Having carried out some 
further investigation, Officers had been confident that there remained a financial 
benefit to the Council even after water arrears and staffing costs had been 
offset against this income.

Delivery of the Contract

It was evident the majority of Tenants maintained their rent account satisfactorily.  
The Council had provided additional help directly to 897 Tenants to manage their 
finances and maximize their income.  However, a number of Tenants who continued 
to object to the payment of water charges and had debts which continued to increase 
which was attributed directly to non-payment of water charges. 

Advice and assistance had been offered to those Tenants with budgeting, including 
applying for a reduced water charge to access the support tariff.  The Housing 
Service had in total, assisted 897 Tenants to reduce their water charges through the 
Back on Track and Help to Pay schemes provided by United Utilities. 

To now deal with the number of cases who had not engaged with the advice and 
assistance offered; Officers had consulted with other social housing providers who 
collect water charges on behalf of United Utilities regarding the action they had taken 
with Tenants who were persistent non-payers.  

It had been noted that a review of the Housing Service’s Income and Debt Recovery 
Procedure was currently being undertaken and a report regarding proposed action 
for non-payers of water only would be presented to Members for consideration in 
December 2020.

Options for the Future

The Assistant Director – Housing presented options to Members for ceasing to collect 
the water charges or continuing with the Contract as follows:-

Cease Collecting Water Charges

Officers would have to consider alternative options to protect income with the 
increased financial pressure on the continuing roll-out of Universal Credit on rent 
income.

The Assistant Director – Housing advised that she was aware there was an issue 
regarding non-payment of water charges; however, there remained a financial benefit 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



to the Housing Service and tenants through the Contract.  She was not aware of 
other options to generate income to the HRA to help mitigate the identified risk to 
income. 

Continue with the Contract

The Assistant Director - Housing had discussed options with United Utilities. Officers 
had been advised the commission rate currently received as a fee was no longer 
viable for United Utilities to continue to maintain this commission fee for a renewed 
contract as the arrangement needed to be beneficial to United Utilities as well as the 
Council. 

To maximise the commission the Council would receive as a fee from United Utilities, 
it would be more beneficial to continue with the Contract for a five-year period rather 
than three years.  This would ensure Barrow Borough Council received the current 
agreed commission fee over the 5 years and receive the cumulative benefit of this.

There continued to be risks to the income of the HRA with the continuing rollout of 
Universal Credit and also in dealing with the ongoing impact of Coronavirus on 
tenants. The commission received from United Utilities assisted in the mitigation of 
those risks.

RECOMMENDED:- To agree the renewal of the contract between Barrow Borough 
Council and United Utilities for a further five years (2021-2026).

Local Government Act 1972 – Excluded Item

The Chairman advised that the meeting would move into Part Two, and

RESOLVED:- That the item to be taken in Part Two of the Agenda be dealt with 
following the exclusion of the press and the public.

8 – Disabled Adaptations

The Assistant Director - Housing submitted a confidential (Part Two) report, the 
purpose of which was to approve the proposed disabled adaptations to two 
properties which would enable the Tenants to maximise their independence and 
quality of life.

RECOMMENDED:- To approve the proposed disabled adaptation works as detailed 
in the Assistant Director - Housing’s report.

The meeting closed at 3.18 pm.

Page 25

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
14 October 2020

Draft Building Safety Bill

 
Report from:  Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place

Report Author: Kevan Morrison, Development Services 

Manager (Building Control)

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 Briefing on the anticipated major changes / impacts on Building Control as a 

consequence of the proposed changes to the Building Act 1984 and the publication 
of the Draft Fire Safety Bill.

2.0 Recommendation 
It is recommended that Executive Committee note the Draft Fire Safety Bill.

3.0 Background and proposals
3.1 Following the Grenfell tragedy a full review of building safety was ordered. The 

recommendations represent the greatest changes in building safety for 40 years 
since the Building Act 1984.  They are intended to improve building and fire safety, 
so that people will be, and the impacts are far wider reaching.

3.2 In July the draft Building Safety Bill the main enabling legislation for radical 
changes in the building control system was published.  The impact of these 
changes touch on housing management, environmental health, fire and rescue 
services, asset management as well as building control.

3.3  The bill lays out the pillars of reform – not the full details, these will follow in 
subsequent secondary legislation.

3.4 The Draft Fire Safety Bill
3.5 In July 2020 the government published its draft Building Safety Bill (along with 

other documents). The proposals include substantial changes to the Building Act 
required to make the building regulation system safer.  A briefing note on the bill 
is attached as Appendix 1

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



3.6 When enacted (likely that all legislation will be passes 2021) these changes will 
revolutionise the whole building control system and will place significant new 
duties and risks on all local authorities in England.

3.7 The draft Bill sets up a Building Safety Regulator. Three of its main functions will 
be:

• to oversee the safety and standards of all buildings,
• to directly regulate the safety of higher-risk buildings during construction 

and after occupation,
• to improve the competence of all those involved in the construction and 

management of higher-risk buildings.

3.8 The Regulator will be able to request local authorities and fire and rescue 
authorities support its work by providing staff or information and if necessary it will 
have the power to direct them to do so. Importantly local authorities will be 
reimbursed for the costs of this support.

3.9 The bill will affect all Building Control Teams and over the coming months the 
Development Services Manager (Building Control) will be reviewing the 
requirements of the legislation and actions needed to ensure compliance when the 
legislation is implemented.

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 Not applicable, the report is to note

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 None – Statutory Requirements

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 Building control links into Priorities 1, 2, and 3 with respect to the statutory 

requirements for building regulation approval for new and altered buildings.  The 
Building Regulations are intended to protect people's safety, health and welfare in 
and around buildings. The regulations are also designed to improve conservation 
of fuel and power, as the regulations move towards carbon free buildings, protect 
and enhance the environment and promote sustainable development.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1 Resourcing, Competence and Resilience

Under the new regime, local authority building control teams will have to provide 
support to the Building Safety Regulator in the regulation of higher risk buildings 
through construction, refurbishment and occupation. However, all building control 
teams and professionals covering work across the whole built environment, will 
have to demonstrate ongoing competence, performance and standards. Building 
control teams will have to regularly report on performance and operating standards 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9



and individual surveyors will need to regularly prove their competence via a third 
party accreditation scheme and will have to be registered with the Regulator in 
order to practise.

7.2  Financial Consequences
All local authority building control teams will / may require investment in:

 Additional professional surveyors / recruitment of trainees.
 Formal learning and structured CPD to ensure professional staff pass their 

competence and registration exams and are able to maintain that 
registration.

 ISO quality management systems and independent external audits.
 Back-office processes and IT links with the BSR, fire and rescue authorities 

and LABC to supply mandatory application information and inspection 
records.

7.2.1 The most experienced higher-risk building control surveyors will become sought 
after within other professions.  Local authorities need to fully understand the 
responsibilities placed on them by the Regulator and the need to retain such staff.

7.2.2 In future, these financial burdens will be offset by chargeable work which will be at 
rates that will reflect the professional status and competence of the surveyors and 
the service they provide to the Regulator. As the membership organisation for 
public service building control LABC have confirmed that they will continue to 
provide learning, qualifications and competence validations, national standards, 
an ISO quality management system and UKAS accredited audits.

7.3 Legal 
7.3.1 Whilst the Bill is not an Act at this stage, it is anticipated that the legislation will be 

passed in 2021 and authorities need to be ready for the changes as they come in

 The HSE as the new Building Safety Regulator (BSR) will have oversight 
of the performance and standards of all building control bodies and 
professionals, not just for higher-risk buildings.

 Local authorities will be exposed to greater responsibilities and risks and 
key individuals will be deemed dutyholders and will be personally culpable 
under criminal law.

 Local authority building control teams will take on additional work and will 
have stronger powers and sanctions.

 Building control will have to demonstrate it has the capacity, competence 
and resilience to work on all buildings and individual building control 
surveyors will have to be registered to practise.

 Initially higher-risk buildings will include new and existing residential 
buildings over six storeys or 18m, however, it is expected the scope to 
quickly expand to include a wider range of buildings. The draft Bill gives the 
Secretary of State the power to define ‘higher-risk buildings’ – those which 
will be regulated by the new regime and included on a register.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



 Local authority building control teams will need to work within a recognised 
and independently audited Quality Management System acceptable to the 
Regulator.

 The Building Safety Regulator will act as the building control body on 
higher-risk buildings but will delegate technical compliance work to local 
authority building control teams. This includes new buildings under 
construction and existing buildings during refurbishment.

 The Building Act and Fire Safety Regulations are undergoing significant 
amendments to increase technical standards in response to Dame Judith 
Hackitt’s review and the Grenfell Inquiry Phase 1 report. These will impact 
significantly on building control teams and others in local government.

7.4 Sanctions and Penalties 
7.4.1 The Building Safety Regulator will be able to issue a compliance notice on 

dutyholders where they contravene the regulations and will be able to prosecute if 
not rectified. This also includes other professionals responsible for protecting the 
fire strategy of a building.

Equality and Diversity 
7.5  The report has no direct Equality and Diversity implications.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Inability to attain the required 
competence levels due to 
workload and current staffing 
levels.

Poor performance will be 
referred to the Secretary 
of State for ‘special 
measures’ type 
interventions.

Performance monitoring 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Staff retention and recruitment 
due to the national shortage of 
staff with the required 
competence levels. 

Poor performance by will 
be referred to the 
Secretary of State for 
‘special measures’ type 
interventions.

Performance monitoring 

Contact Officers 
Kevan Morrison – e-mail kcmorrison@barrowbc.gov.uk

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1 Local Authority Building Safety Briefing document

Page 30

Agenda Item 9



2 

Background Documents Available
Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

1.  Draft Fire Safety Bill and     
Associated Documents

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-
building-safety-bill

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-building-safety-bill
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/draft-building-safety-bill


This page is intentionally left blank



Local Authorities 
and Building 
Safety
Briefing on the draft Bill  
September 2020

Gre
nfe

ll

W
orc

est
er P

ark
 Fla

ts

Bark
in

g Fla
ts

Bolto
n C

ube

La
kanal H

ouse

Cre
we C

are
 H

om
e

Page 33

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Dear Colleague,
I want to explain why changes happening to building safety will matter to many senior managers and 
elected members of local government. Following the Grenfell tragedy a full review of building safety was 
ordered. The recommendations represent the greatest changes in building safety for 40 years since the 
Building Act. They will affect all local authorities in England. And it is a mistake to think this is only  
about tall residential blocks like Grenfell Tower, the impacts are far wider reaching.

In July the draft Building Safety Bill – the main enabling legislation for radical changes in the building 
control system – was published. The impact of these changes touch on housing management, 
environmental health, fire and rescue services, asset management as well as building control. 

In normal times, introducing such a major change to local authority operations would be challenging.  
It’s especially challenging now given the unrelenting financial impact of COVID-19 (estimated by the  
LGA to have created a £7.4 billion hole in budgets); but it’s a challenge we must meet. Building safety  
is non-negotiable. People must know they are safe in their own homes. 

This briefing is intended as a senior management guide to these major changes. There are well over a 
thousand pages of new and amended legislation surrounding building and fire safety and much more  
to come in the following secondary legislation. So, this document explains the most important impacts  
on your local authority. It will help you to understand what must happen, the timings and how the new 
system and regulations will work. 

LABC will soon run a series of webinars designed exclusively for local government. Plus we will issue  
further detailed information as the legislation and statutory instruments develop. Please register  
today - details are at the end of this document.  

Right now, building control needs to be under your spotlight even though we’re aware there are massive 
issues happening on other fronts. All local authorities must prepare for these changes. 

Lorna Stimpson 
Chief Executive, LABC

MAKE SURE YOUR 
AUTHORITY IS READY TO 
BUILD A SAFER FUTURE

Ba
rk

in
g 

fla
ts

 fi
re

 - 
BB

C
 N

ew
s 

cr
ed

it.
  B

ol
to

n 
C

ub
e 

fir
e 

- t
he

 m
et

ro
. C

re
w

e 
ca

re
 h

om
e 

fir
e 

- T
he

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t c

re
di

t. 
 G

re
nf

el
l T

ow
er

 - 
Th

e 
Ti

m
es

 c
ed

it.
  

La
ka

na
l H

ou
se

 - 
Th

e 
G

ua
rd

ia
n 

im
ag

e 
cr

ed
it.

  W
or

ce
st

er
 P

ar
k 

fla
ts

 fi
re

 - 
BB

C
 N

ew
s 

cr
ed

it.

Page 34

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



THE DRAFT BUILDING SAFETY BILL
In July 2020 the government published its draft Building Safety Bill (along with other documents). The 
proposals include substantial changes to the Building Act required to make the building regulation system 
safer following the Grenfell tragedy.

When enacted these changes will revolutionise the whole building control system and will place significant 
new duties and risks on all local authorities in England.

The draft Bill sets up a Building Safety Regulator. Three of its main functions will be: 

1. to oversee the safety and standards of all buildings

2.  to directly regulate the safety of higher-risk buildings during construction and after occupation

3.  to improve the competence of all those involved in the construction and management of higher-risk 
buildings.

The Regulator will be able to request local authorities and fire and rescue authorities support its work by 
providing staff or information and if necessary it will have the power to direct them to do so. Importantly 
local authorities will be reimbursed for the costs of this support.

The Bill provides the ‘enabling’ legislation to set up the new Regulator.

Page 35

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



LEGISLATION KEY POINTS
1.  The HSE as the new Building Safety Regulator (BSR) will have oversight of the performance and standards 

of all building control bodies (public and private sector) and professionals, not just for higher-risk buildings. 

2.   Local authorities will be exposed to greater responsibilities and risks and key individuals will be deemed 
dutyholders and will be personally culpable under criminal law, risking fines or imprisonment.

3.  Local authority building control teams will take on additional work and will have stronger powers  
and sanctions.

4.  Building control will have to demonstrate it has the capacity, competence and resilience to work on all 
buildings and individual building control surveyors will have to be registered to practise.

5.  Initially higher-risk buildings will include new and existing residential buildings over six storeys or 18m, 
however, we expect the scope to quickly expand to include a wider range of buildings. The draft Bill gives 
the Secretary of State the power to define ‘higher-risk buildings’ – those which will be regulated by the new 
regime and included on a register. 

6.  Local authority building control teams will need to work within a recognised and independently audited 
Quality Management System acceptable to the Regulator.

7.   The Building Safety Regulator will act as the building control body on higher-risk buildings but will delegate 
technical compliance work to local authority building control teams. This includes new buildings under 
construction and existing buildings during refurbishment.

8.  The Building Act and Fire Safety Regulations are undergoing significant amendments to increase technical 
standards in response to Dame Judith Hackitt’s review and the Grenfell Inquiry Phase 1 report. These will 
impact significantly on building control teams and others in local government.

9.  The Fire Safety Bill amends the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 to place a legal requirement 
on building owners to inspect cladding, balconies, windows and fire doors in blocks of flats. All existing 
residential buildings over six storeys or 11 metres will be covered by the new fire safety regime along with 
any existing residential blocks reaching this height by the addition of extra storeys.

• 400 – the average number of new higher-risk buildings constructed 
each year

• 12,500 – the estimated number of existing higher-risk buildings to 
be included on the Regulator’s register

• 1,000,000+ people living in higher-risk buildings  
in the immediate ‘scope’

Page 36

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



A root and branch review of all 
legislation.

RISK
For the first time, local authorities and individual named senior managers will be criminally 
responsible and legally liable for the safety of higher risk buildings. Failures by local authorities could 
mean progressive fines or imprisonment. Poor performance by a local authority building control team will 
be referred to the Secretary of State for ‘special measures’ type interventions.

The MHCLG impact assessment estimates that there are at least 12,500 existing in-scope buildings  
housing almost 1 million people. All of these buildings will need to be certificated by the Building Safety 
Regulator; Local Authority Building Control will have a significant role in supporting the BSR in certificating 
these buildings. 

The homes of millions of people will come 
under new legislation

WHO WILL BE LIABLE?
Building owners, those commissioning work and managers of higher risk buildings – including local 
authorities – will become dutyholders with legal responsibility for keeping residents safe and meeting new 
defined standards and processes. 

It is worth noting that major changes to the Building Act proposed in the draft Bill will mean where an 
offence is committed by a ‘body corporate’ “…any director, manager, secretary or other similar 
officer of the body corporate, or any person who was purporting to act in any such capacity… that 
person as well as the body corporate commits the offence and is liable to be proceeded against and 
punished accordingly.” 

This means that both directors of companies and senior managers in certain situations will be personally 
liable for offences under the Act. This will mean that many elected members, local authority managers plus 
those working for direct or arms-length housing organisations will be expected to understand and have the 
competence to handle their responsibilities and understand their liabilities.

Page 37

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



SANCTIONS AND PENALTIES
The Building Safety Regulator will be able to issue a compliance notice on dutyholders where they 
contravene the regulations and will be able to prosecute if not rectified. This also includes other 
professionals responsible for protecting the fire strategy of a building. 

If tried by Magistrates, the offence will carry a maximum penalty of an unlimited fine and/or 12 months’ 
imprisonment. If tried in the Crown Court, the maximum penalty will be an unlimited fine and/or two  
years’ imprisonment.

RESOURCING, COMPETENCE AND 
RESILIENCE
Under the new regime, local authority building control teams will have to provide support to the Building 
Safety Regulator in the regulation of higher risk buildings through construction, refurbishment and 
occupation. However, all building control teams and professionals in both public and private sector building 
control, covering work across the whole built environment, will have to demonstrate ongoing competence, 
performance and standards. Building control teams in the public and private sector will have to regularly 
report on performance and operating standards and individual surveyors will need to regularly prove their 
competence via a third party accreditation scheme and will have to be registered with the Regulator in 
order to practise.

New criminal sanctions for people 
commissioning, designing, specifying and 
managing construction.

Experience won’t be enough – competence 
has to be current and validated.

Page 38

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



FINANCIAL CONSEQUENCES
All local authority building control teams will require investment in: 
• Additional professional surveyors. 
• Recruitment of trainees. 
• Formal learning and structured CPD to ensure professional staff pass their competence and registration 
 exams and are able to maintain that registration. 
• ISO quality management systems and independent external audits. 
•  Back-office processes and IT links with the BSR, fire and rescue authorities and LABC to supply mandatory 

application information and inspection records.

The most experienced higher-risk building control surveyors will become sought after within other 
professions and their jobs and status will need upward re-evaluation and pay regrading or they will likely be 
lost to the private sector. Local authorities need to fully understand the responsibilities placed on them by 
the Regulator and the need to retain such staff. 

In future, these financial burdens will be offset by chargeable work which will be at rates that will reflect the 
professional status and competence of the surveyors and the service they provide to the Regulator. As the 
membership organisation for public service building control LABC will continue to provide free or subsidised 
access to learning, qualifications and competence validations, national standards, an ISO quality 
management system and UKAS accredited audits.

For housing authorities there will be direct cost in bringing their buildings up to standard. MHCLG estimate 
the average cost of recladding a higher-risk block (18-30 metres) at £1.8 million and £540,000 to replace 
fire doors.

Financial formula: 
Rectification = £millions 
Prevention = £thousands

Job evaluation and grades need to reflect the need 
for ongoing validation of professional competence 
and registration with the Building Safety Regulator.

£
Page 39

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



INTERACTION BETWEEN REGULATORS
The Joint Regulators’ Group (JRG) brought together in 2018 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government, is currently piloting the processes by which planners, building control, environmental 
health officers, health and safety professionals and fire authorities will work together to fulfil, document 
and record how they work together on higher risk buildings. 

The JRG is coming together alongside senior MHLCG & HSE officials to deliver a series of information events 
aimed directly at those most impacted by the changes. 

The first event will include: Dame Judith Hackitt, the Minister, leading Officials from the HSE, MHCLG and 
representatives from the National Fire Chiefs Council and the LGA. This is an invitation only event for local 
authority Chief Executives and senior managers, council leaders and fire and rescue service chiefs. 

Separate additional events are being planned for late October and November for local authority building 
control and planning practitioners, fire service personnel and dutyholders including housing associations, 
principal designers, principal contractors and building safety managers.

To apply for your place please register on the LABC website (details next page).

Page 40

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



CREATE YOUR PLAN NOW
Actions: 
1. Click on www.labc.co.uk/building-safety to find all published documents and legislation. 
2. Register for updates including free webinars and further summaries of new statutory instruments. 
3. Also register for management guides on changes to: surveying practises; standards and 
performance; admin and back office; finances; recruitment; resourcing and resilience. 
Or email: buildingsafety@labc.co.uk

TIMING
It is likely that all legislation will be passed in 2021 with the new Building Safety Regulator established 
during 2022. So, with only a short transition period, the new Building Safety System could be implemented 
and fully operational early in 2023.

Local authorities only have 18 
months to prepare.

Page 41

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

http://www.labc.co.uk/building-safety
http://www.labc.co.uk/building-safety-sign-up
mailto:buildingsafety%40labc.co.uk?subject=Building%20Safety


This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed Building Safety  Regime

Oversight  of  
Competency of  
Construct ion 

Industry

Building Advisory  
Commit tee 

(reconstituted and 
revised BRAC)

Register of Building 
Control Approvers

Performance 
Reporting 

Building Control Authority   and 
Regulator for Higher Risk Buildings 

during Construct ion, Refurbishment 
& Occupat ion

HSE 
Health & Safety 

Practitioner

Building Safety  Regulator

Oversight  of  
Performance & 
Standards of  

Building Control 
Profession

Register of Building 
Control Inspectors Mult i-disciplinary  

Team

Fire & Rescue Service
Fire Safety Inspector

Local Authority
Building Control Surveyor

Environmental Health Officer

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee
14 October 2020

Corporate Enforcement Policy

 
Report from:  Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place

Report Author: Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions
1.1 This report asks the Executive Committee to approve a policy that sets out the 

Council’s approach to enforcement.
1.2 The Corporate Enforcement Policy is an over-arching approach to enforcement  

which sets out the legal framework and what residents and businesses in the 
borough can expect in terms of the types of enforcement that it can undertake  

1.3 Two key principles underpin this policy.  Firstly, any enforcement will be 
proportionate to the situation.  Secondly, that education and engagement are key 
to supporting residents and businesses to keep people safe, healthy and well 
and our borough a clean and green place to live.  

1.4 All service areas with an enforcement element will have a specific service policy.  
These set out the detail that specific legalisation that officers of the council have 
to act upon. Each of these service areas are updating and reviewing these 
policies for relevance.  The legislation in each specific service area will take 
precedent over the overall approach in the Corporate Enforcement Policy.  

2.0 Recommendation 

It is recommended that Executive Committee approve the Corporate 
Enforcement Policy at Appendix 1 of this report.

3.0Background and Proposals 
3.1 The Council delivers a range of regulatory and enforcement functions across a 

number of services:  As examples these include:
 Waste collection and recycling
 civil enforcement (parking)
 housing
 Licencing
 Environmental Protection
 Private Sector Housing Standards

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



 Planning
 Building Control

3.1.1 The Corporate Enforcement Policy is an over-arching policy that ensures 
transparency and consistency of approach across all council services.  It takes a 
proportionate and compassionate approach to enable compliance and to protect 
the most vulnerable from deliberate or serious non-compliance.  

3.1.2 The policy sets out:

 The legislative framework, regulations and principles that all services 
should adhere to

 What residents, businesses and visitors can expect from officers carrying 
out enforcement

 The council’s approach to enforcement and types of enforcement it may 
impose.  

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 The Corporate Enforcement Policy is based on delivering the priorities of the 

Council Plan.  A copy will be placed on the council website.  

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 A “do nothing” option to not have a Corporate Enforcement Policy would mean 

that the council would lack a defined formalised corporate approach to 
enforcement.  

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 This contributes significantly to Council Plan priorities and supports with 

protecting the most vulnerable.  

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

Legal 

A Corporate Enforcement Policy will support the use of statutory powers/tools in relation 
to the Council’s enforcement work.  

Equality and Diversity 
7.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes – the following project 

actions were identified as necessary.

Page 46

Agenda Item 10



Action Outcome
Evaluation of service specific policies Evidence of positive or adverse equalities 

impacts amongst different groups
Review communication methods to ensure 
that they are accessible to all

To ensure that no indirect discrimination in 
service delivery occurs as a result of lack of 
appropriate access to information

Risk

7.4 A risk assessment of the policy has been undertaken; the following principal 
remaining risks are as follows:

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Failure to adhere to the policy 
as set out

Potential for wrong or 
ineffective enforcement 
action to be taken.
Inconsistency of 
approach

Effective enforcement 
action understood and 
implemented by officers. 

Contact Officers 
Steph Cordon scordon@barrowbc.gov.uk

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1 Corporate Enforcement Policy
2 

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available 

None 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Enforcement Policy
Barrow Borough Council 
October 2020

Version 1

Page 49

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Corporate Enforcement Policy

1.0 Background
1.1 This policy document sets out what businesses and others being regulated 

can expect from Barrow Borough Council and its officers who carry out 
enforcement functions. 

1.2 It commits the Council to clear and effective enforcement practice, 
procedures and polices.

1.3 This policy gives a general over-arching view of how the Council’s various 
enforcement functions will do their jobs.  It provides links to the specific local 
enforcement procedures which will be helpful for businesses and individuals 
to understand.  Where there is a conflict between this general policy and any 
service specific enforcement policy, the service specific policy will take 
precedence.  

2.0 What is Enforcement
2.1 This policy applies to all of the legislation enforced by officers with delegated 

enforcement powers employed by the Council. 
2.2 Enforcement incudes any criminal or civil action take by the Council aimed at 

ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law.
2.3 The term “enforcement action” has been given a general statutory definition, 

which is:
 Action to secure compliance with a restriction, requirement or 

condition in relation to a breach or supposed breach
 Action taken in connection with imposing a sanction for an act 

or omission and
 Action taken in connection with a statutory remedy for an act or 

omission
2.4 Enforcement Officer includes any officer who has been duly authorised by the 

council through the constitution and/or scheme of delegation to undertake 
enforcement and enforcement action as described above.  

3.0 What Informs our enforcement approach
3.1 The Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006 requires every council to 

have regard for the five principles of good regulation when carrying out 
specific regulatory functions:

3.2 these five principles are:
(i) Proportionate: Our activities will reflect the level of risk to the public 

and enforcement action will relate to the seriousness of the offence.
(ii) Accountable: our activities will be open to public scrutiny with clear 

and accessible policies and a fair and efficient complaints procedure
(iii) Consistent:  our advice to those that we regulate will be robust and 

reliable and we will respect advice provided by others.  When 
circumstances are similar, we will endeavour to act in similar ways to 
other councils.  

Page 50

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



(iv) Transparent: we will ensure that those we regulate are able to 
understand what is expected of them and what they can anticipate in 
return. 

(v) Targeted:  we will focus our resources on higher risk enterprises and 
activities, reflecting both local need and national priorities. 

3.3 The Regulators Code

3.3.1 The Council has had regard to the Regulators code in the preparation 
of this policy.  This provides for an efficient and effective approach to 
all Council regulatory inspection and enforcement functions to improve 
compliance with legislation whilst minimising the burden on 
businesses, individuals, organisations and the Council itself. 

3.3.2 In certain instances we may however conclude that a provision of the 
Code is either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision.  We 
will ensure that any decision to depart from the Code will be properly 
reasoned, documented and based on material evidence.  

3.4 Human Rights Act 1998

3.4.1 The Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human Rights 
Act 1998.  This policy and all associated enforcement decisions 
therefore take into account the provisions of the Act. 

3.5 Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations 2018 
(GDPR)

3.5.1 Where there is a need for Barrow Borough Council to share 
enforcement action information with other agencies, we will follow the 
provisions of the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data 
Protection Regulations  2018 (GDPR) and in line with the Council’s 
Data Protection Policy. 

3.6 The Code for Crown Prosecutors

3.6.1 When deciding whether to prosecute, the Council will have regard to 
the provisions of the Code for Crown Prosecutors as issued by the 
Director of Public Prosecutions.

3.6.2 The Code for Crown Prosecutors is a public document that sets out 
the general principles to follow when decisions are made in respect f 
prosecuting cases. The code sets out two tests that must be satisfied, 
commonly referred to as the “Evidence Test” and “Public Interest Test”

1. Evidential Test: Is there enough evidence against the defendant?

When deciding whether there is enough evidence to prosecute, the Council will 
consider what evidence can be used in court and whether it is reliable and credible. 
We must be satisfied there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of 
conviction against each suspect on each charge. As part of this assessment we need 
to consider the impact of any defence or any other information that may be put 
forward or relied upon by the defendant.

Page 51

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



2. Public Interest Test: Is it in the public interest for the case to be brought to court?

The Council will balance factors for and against prosecution carefully and fairly, 
considering each case on its merits. The following public interest criteria will normally 
be taken into account when deciding on the relevance of legal proceedings, although 
this list is not exhaustive.

 The seriousness of the offence committed.
 The level of responsibility of the suspect.
 The circumstances of and the harm caused to the victim.
 The past and current performance or actions of any business and/or individual 

concerned.
 A person’s age in relation to young people (termed ‘juveniles’) aged under 18.
 The impact on the community.
 Statutory requirements, guidance or Codes of Practice.
 Legal advice.
 Whether prosecution is a proportionate response.
 The need to protect sources of information.

4.0 Which functions operate in accordance with this Enforcement Policy?

4.1 This policy relates to all Council services that operate a regulatory function 
within or on behalf of the Council.

4.2 Some examples of service areas that have a role to enforce legislation include;
 Waste & Litter including bulky collections
 Environmental Health (food safety, health and safety, environmental 

protection, public health)
 Licensing (alcohol, hackney carriage & private hire, street trading)
 Animal Health and Welfare (farmed animal health, animal boarders and 

breeders,
 zoos, riding schools)
 Housing (housing conditions, licensing of houses in multiple occupation, 

empty homes, harassment and illegal eviction)
 Unauthorised Gypsy and Traveller encampments
 Planning Enforcement
 Building Control
 Antisocial Behaviour including fly tipping, dog fouling , abandoned 

vehicles
 Parking Services

4.3 Please note that this list is not exhaustive.

5.0 Who does this Enforcement Policy affect?

5.1 This policy provides a framework for Council employees, Members and 
contractors whilst they are carrying out their day to day duties. It is also 
designed to provide an overview of the Council’s approach and general 
operating principles to those who might be affected by its use; this would 
include members of the public, commercial businesses and voluntary 
organisations.

Page 52

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



5.2 This policy is also applicable where the Council is the ‘Enforcing Authority’ for 
its own premises. In such instances steps are taken to ensure that 
enforcement decisions are free from any conflict of interest. In particular, any 
serious breaches of legislation would be brought to the attention of the 
Director of People and Place and Senior Management Team without delay.

6.0 Evidence Gathering during an Investigation

6.1 Regulatory bodies are empowered to gather evidence by various means and 
as part of any ongoing investigation. This can include overt methods where 
the subject is aware of the investigation or, where appropriate, covert 
methods where the subject is unaware.

6.2 Where the Council undertakes to gather information covertly then they will 
have regard to the procedures and protocols laid down within the Regulatory 
Investigation Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), Investigative Powers Act 2016 and the 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 as applicable. The Council has a corporate 
application and authorisation process for the use of these specific measures 
in addition to the use of Privacy Risk Assessments. These processes are 
monitored by senior officers of the Council.

6.3 As part of any investigation and to support decisions around the need for 
further action a wide variety of evidence and intelligence will be gathered; this 
may include information from other agencies such as those listed in Section 
10.

6.4 Evidence that is gathered as part of an investigation may be retained 
indefinitely or in accordance with established data retention policies. In certain 
circumstances the Council may seek to destroy equipment or goods that have 
been seized as part of an investigation, for example where there is a potential 
risk to health. This will take into consideration any statutory process.

6.5 In gathering evidence the Council routinely undertake recorded investigative 
interviews. These are carried out in accordance with the Police and Criminal 
Evidence Act 1984 and associated Codes of Practice and seek to provide an 
individual or business with the opportunity to provide their version of events 
as part of an ongoing investigation.

6.6 Attendance in person at an interview under caution is expected on the 
grounds of gathering complete evidence and to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation process.  Failure to assist an investigation or the act of 
obstructing an officer is an offence under many pieces of legislation used by 
enforcement agencies. The Council expect cooperation and will take action 
where appropriate, if this is not forthcoming.

6.7 In order to take enforcement action there needs to be sufficient supporting 
evidence to prove that there is a breach of legislation upon which 
enforcement action can be taken. In response to anonymous complaints or 
cases where there is no independent witness the Council will take a view as 
to whether they can take any further action or whether to retain the details 
purely for intelligence purposes. Factors that may be taken into account as 
part of this decision include the availability of corroborating independent 
evidence or whether evidence exists that undermines the case.

Page 53

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



6.8 All investigations will be carried out lawfully having regard to the following 
legislation (as amended) and in accordance with any associated guidance or 
codes of practice, in so far as they relate to the Council:

6.9 Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 Criminal Procedure and Investigations 
Act 1996 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Investigative Powers 
Act 2016 Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 Human Rights Act 1998.
These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and 
used and give a range of protections to citizens and potential defendants.

7.0 What does enforcement look like?

7.1 The primary function is to achieve regulatory compliance in order to protect 
the public, legitimate business, the environment and groups such as 
consumers and workers. However, we reserve the right to take action in some 
cases even after compliance has been achieved if it is in the public interest to 
do so. We will retain the discretion to depart from national guidelines where 
doing so will better meet local priorities and circumstances.

7.2 The Council is committed to working with its local residents, business and 
volunteer communities to provide practical and proactive help and advice to 
all parties to help them achieve compliance with the law.

7.3 If a resident or business operator chooses not to act on advice, an 
enforcement intervention should be expected. Similarly the Council is 
committed to taking firm action against those that deliberately or persistently 
fail to comply with legislation and where this is considered appropriate.

7.4 Where non-compliance is identified then the Council will seek compliance 
through a combination of Promotion, Compliance Advice, Guidance and 
Support, Regularisation, Informal Warning and Formal Enforcement action.

7.4.1 Promotion

This typically involves a push of information to residents and 
businesses about specific matters of legislation. This is usually 
achieved by methods such as direct correspondence, press releases, 
face to face contact and website information.

7.4.2 Compliance Advice, Guidance and Support

The Council uses compliance advice, guidance and support as a first 
response in the case of many breaches of legislation that are 
identified. Advice is provided, sometimes in the form of a warning 
letter, to assist individuals and businesses in rectifying breaches as 
quickly and efficiently as possible, avoiding the need for further 
enforcement action. If a similar breach is identified in the future, this 
advice will be persuasive in considering the most appropriate 
enforcement action to take on that occasion. Such advice cannot be 
cited in court as a previous conviction but it may be presented in 
evidence. Failure to comply could result in an escalation of 
enforcement action.

Page 54

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



7.4.3 Informal Warnings

This method is used in circumstances where there has been a breach 
of legislation, usually minor, and where it was not thought appropriate 
to take more formal action. In these cases the remedy may be simple 
and easily achieved following a written or oral warning. Such warnings 
can be challenged by the recipient and a review by a senior officer can 
be requested.

7.4.4 Formal Enforcement

This includes a wide variety of sanctions including statutory (legal) 
notices, written undertakings, the refusal to grant or the revocation of 
an existing licence or registration, fixed penalty notices, powers of 
seizure and detention, cautions and prosecution. Formal enforcement 
action is taken in line with corporate procedures and having regard to 
Codes of Practice and professional guidance notes. Formal 
enforcement action also extends beyond the prosecution process as 
the Council may apply for further post-conviction sanctions.

7.4.5 Statutory (legal) Notices

Many pieces of legislation enforced by the Council provide for the 
service of statutory notices to seek compliance with legal 
requirements. A statutory notice will require a person, business or 
organisation to comply with specific legal requirements within a 
specified time period. A notice shall explain what legislation has been 
breached, how to comply with the notice and the consequences of not 
complying with a notice. Notices will be accompanied by any relevant 
appeal information.
In general, failure to comply with a notice makes the person or 
business named in the notice liable for prosecution. Further, the 
Council may, in some cases carry out the works identified within the 
notice and recover costs from the recipient of the original notice (work 
in default). Prosecution and work in default may run in parallel.

7.4.6 Written Undertakings (Voluntary and Formal)

Where an individual or organisation persistently fails to comply with 
the law, the Council may seek a written undertaking from that person 
that they will cease the action causing the breach. If appropriate and 
proportionate, this action may preclude the need for further formal 
action whilst the agreement is met.

Failure by an individual or business to agree to a written undertaking 
or, breach of agreement in the case where an agreement is in place, 
can lead to further formal action being taken by the Council in 
accordance with the relevant legal provisions.

7.4.7 Injunctions / Enforcement Orders etc. and other civil sanctions 
including financial and civil penalties

In certain circumstances the Council may consider it necessary or 
expedient to seek a direction from the court (in the form of an order or 

Page 55

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



an injunction) to control behaviour or an activity. The court may also 
direct that specified activities be suspended until the breach has been 
rectified and/or safeguards have been put in place. Injunctions are 
orders of the court, breach of which are punishable as a contempt of 
court by imprisonment or a fine.

Where applicable legislation permits the Council may also seek civil 
sanctions including financial and civil penalties.

7.4.8 Seizure proceedings

Certain legislation enables authorised officers to seize goods, for 
example,  sound equipment that is being used to create a statutory 
noise nuisance, or any goods or documents that may be required as 
evidence for possible future court proceedings.

7.4.9 Fixed Penalty Notices

A Fixed Penalty Notice may be used as a means of dealing with a low-
level offence instead of prosecution action and enables a defendant to 
avoid a criminal record by discharging their liability to a prosecution for 
the original offence. Certain lower level offences such as littering, dog 
fouling and smoking in prohibited places are subject to Fixed Penalty 
Notices and they enable the offender to discharge their liability and 
avoid a criminal record.

The Council will comply with any current relevant guidance on the use 
of Fixed Penalty Notices to include;

a) There must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic 
prospect of conviction;

b) The offence is not so serious as to warrant a prosecution 
and is of a nature suitable for being dealt with by a Fixed 
Penalty Notice; and

c) Specific guidance on issuing Fixed Penalty Notices to 
juveniles; including provisions for issuing a Fixed Penalty 
Notice to an individual aged between 10-17 years of age; 
cases where there is doubt over the age of a juvenile; first and 
second offence provisions.

Where an adult recipient does not pay the penalty offered, or is a 
repeat offender there will be a presumption that prosecution will follow 
in relation to the actual offence.

7.4.10 Penalty Charge Notices

Penalty Charge Notices are issued in relation to contraventions of 
parking restrictions whereby an individual pays an amount of money 
as a consequence of the breach.

The method and circumstances for issuing a Penalty Charge Notice is 
prescribed by specific legislation.

Page 56

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



Failure to pay a Penalty Charge Notice may ultimately result in the 
individual being pursued by enforcement agents where their fees will 
also apply.

The notices issued are no longer breaches of criminal law enforceable 
through the criminal justice system, but instead ‘Penalty Charge 
Notices’ (PCN’s) are a debt owed to the Council, enforceable through 
the civil justice system.

7.4.11 Revocation, suspension and withdrawal of licences and permits

Where the Council has issued a permit, approval, licence or other 
form or permission, removal of that permission in line with the relevant 
guidance or legislation will be considered as an enforcement remedy. 
This action does not preclude further parallel formal enforcement 
action by the Council e.g. prosecution.

When considering future licensing applications, the Council may take 
previous breaches and enforcement action into account.

7.4.12 Forfeiture Proceedings

This procedure may be used in conjunction with seizure and/or 
prosecution where there is a need to dispose of goods in order to 
prevent them re-entering the market place or being used to cause a 
further problem. The Council may seek an order of the court for 
forfeiture of goods it has seized either as part of criminal investigations 
or during the exercise of its enforcement functions.

7.4.13 Simple Caution

As an alternative to prosecution and in appropriate circumstances a 
simple caution may be considered as a means of formal enforcement 
action. A caution is not a criminal conviction but it will form part of an 
offenders’ criminal record and may be referred to in any subsequent 
proceedings.

For a caution to be issued the following criteria must be met;

a) There is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic prospect of 
conviction and it is in the public interest to caution;
b) There has been a reliable admission of guilt by the offender; and c) 
The offender is over 18 years of age.

Consideration will be given to the Ministry of Justice - Simple Caution 
for Adult Offender guidance (MoJ Guidance).

The refusal of an offender to be cautioned does not preclude the 
matter being passed for prosecution. In fact, any such failure will be 
material consideration when deciding whether the offender should 
then be prosecuted for that offence.

7.4.14 Prosecutions

The Council will consider a prosecution when;

Page 57

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



a) It is appropriate in the circumstances as a way to draw attention to 
the need for compliance with the law, especially where there would be 
a normal expectation of a prosecution, or where;
b) Through the conviction of offenders, others may be deterred from 
offending; or 
c) There is potential for considerable harm arising from the breach; or
d) The gravity of the offence, taken together with the general record 
and approach of the offender justifies it.

The decision to prosecute will always take into account the criteria set 
down in the Code for Crown Prosecutors (section 3.5). The Council 
will use discretion in deciding to initiate a prosecution and may do so 
without prior warning taking place.

7.4.15 Proceeds of Crime

There are some cases where an application under the provisions of 
the Proceeds of Crime Act is considered appropriate. This seeks to 
confiscate assets from an offender in order to recover the financial 
benefit they have gained during the course of their criminal activities. 
Where such an approach is considered then the Council will seek the 
advice of an Accredited Financial Investigator at the earliest 
opportunity so that a parallel financial investigation can be undertaken.

There is a defined timescale for the application to proceed with 
confiscation; it must be made after conviction but prior to any 
sentencing.

7.4.16 Charges

Certain enforcement activities incur a charge designed to solely 
recover the cost of the enforcement action taken and are recoverable 
from the offender or perpetrator. Some charges are set by statute 
whilst others are determined by the Council and must demonstrate 
financial transparency in how they are calculated.

The Council also has the power to apply interest charge rates to any 
expense it incurs in the course of enforcement action including works 
in default. Such charges will be applied with regard to advice provided 
by financial services.

7.4.17 No Action

In certain circumstances, contravention of the law may not warrant 
any action. This can be where the cost of compliance to the offender 
outweighs the detrimental impact of the contravention, or the cost of 
the required enforcement action to the Council outweighs the 
detrimental impact of the contravention on the community. In addition 
there may be circumstances where there is insufficient evidence or it 
is not in the public interest to proceed.

Some areas of legislation only allow the Council to take action where it 
is expedient to do so, taking into account the level of harm caused by 
the contravention. In certain cases it may not be considered expedient 

Page 58

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



to take enforcement action. All such decisions will be made 
transparently.

8.0 How do we determine the most appropriate enforcement action?

8.1 The Council will carry out its duties in a fair and consistent manner. Whilst 
officers are expected to exercise judgement in individual cases the Council 
has formal documented arrangements in place to review proposed 
enforcement actions in the more serious cases and local schemes for officer 
delegation. This could include an internal case review and discussion on 
whether the proposed action is the most suitable means of achieving 
compliance.

8.2 As part of its decision making process, the Council will also consider the role 
of supplementary decision making policies and tools that are available across 
the wide range of regulatory functions; this could include the use of the HSE 
Enforcement Management Model and  Codes of Practice 

8.3 Where there is a shared enforcement role with other local authorities and/or 
enforcement agencies, the Council will ensure that effective liaison and 
consultation takes place to ensure that the needs of all parties are considered 
and to help achieve the best outcome from formal enforcement action.

9.0 What can you expect from your enforcing officer/Council?

9.1 All officers engaged in enforcement functions are appropriately trained and 
authorised in line with the provisions of the Barrow Borough Council Scheme 
of Delegations to ensure the highest standards of service delivery.

9.2  Authorised officers will carry out their enforcement activities in accordance 
with the principles of this Policy and the requirements of the particular 
legislation under which they are acting and with any associated guidance or 
codes of practice.

9.3 The Council believes that prevention, including education, is better than cure 
and encourages businesses and individuals to seek advice on matters that 
they are unsure of without fear that this will trigger direct enforcement action. 
In return the Council will be clear about issues that constitute direct non-
compliance with legislation and those matters which are examples of good 
practice. Where appropriate, advice and guidance will be followed up by 
dedicated compliance checks or will form part of any routine inspection 
programme.

9.4 The Council will endeavour to provide information and advice in plain 
language. The Council will discuss general issues, individual compliance 
failures or problems with anyone experiencing difficulties should it be 
requested. To support this, the Council will identify a point of contact in any 
correspondence that it issues.

9.5 The Council will have regard to the challenges faced by individuals and 
businesses, particularly small businesses. It will ensure that any action it 
requires is proportionate and balanced against risk. As far as the law allows, 
the Council will take account of the individual circumstances of each case 
when considering action. This includes the seriousness of the offence, past 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



history, confidence in management, the consequences of non compliance 
and the likely effectiveness of the various enforcement options.

9.6 A business or individual will be notified of any intended enforcement action as 
soon as possible, unless this could undermine an investigation or pose a 
safety risk to those concerned, the environment or the general public.

9.7 In cases where there is an imminent risk to health or the environment, 
enforcement action may be taken before any right or challenge can be heard.

9.8 The Council will provide information on how to challenge or appeal any 
enforcement decision as part of the enforcement action and where a statutory 
appeal process exists; where no statutory appeal process exists, guidance on 
how to challenge or make a representation is provided at the time the action 
is taken. In addition the Council will also provide details of its formal 
complaints procedure for those wishing to use this approach.

9.9 The Council will make businesses and individuals aware of the current 
Enforcement Policy through the website, direct correspondence or as part of 
day to day contact.

9.10 In certain circumstances we will seek to raise awareness and increase 
compliance levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal activity. 
Where appropriate the results of specific court cases may also be published.

10.0 Which other agencies might we work with?

10.1 The Council will aim to maximise its effectiveness by working with other 
authorities and other agencies to share intelligence and resources where it is 
lawful to do so. Where issues are identified that extend beyond the remit of 
one agency and into the role of another, then joint operations will be 
undertaken to maximise resources and improve any enforcement outcome.

Some examples of agencies that the Council might work with include; 
 Police
 Environment Agency
 Health and Safety Executive
 Food Standards Agency
 Fire Service
 HM Revenue and Customs
 DEFRA
 Animal Plant Health Agency
 Office for Product Safety & Standards
 Citizens Advice
 Department for Work and Pensions
 Department for Transport (DfT)
 Registered providers of social housing
 Other Local Authorities 
 Other Enforcement Agencies as appropriate

Page 60

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



11.0 Equality and Diversity

11.1 The Council is committed to providing high-quality, customer focussed 
services for all people living in, working in, or visiting the area. Promoting 
fairness and providing equality and inclusion is one of our important ambitions 
and relates to:

 Accessing the Council's services
 Accessing employment opportunities with the Council, or with its 

contractors
 who supply goods or services to the Council.
 Developing policies and plans that impact upon communities and 

individuals  through all our work we are committed to achieving the 
following outcomes:

 Narrowing the gaps between our communities
 Providing access to services for all our communities
 Understanding and reflecting the needs of all our communities
 Fostering good relations with all our communities and partners
 Ensuring our workforce is representative of the communities it serves

12.0 Complaints, compliments and suggestions

12.1 Complaints, compliments or suggestions on any aspect of the services the 
Council provides should be directed to the service area in the first instance.

12.2 If the Council’s response to a complaint about the service fails to resolve the 
matter then you may wish to lodge a formal complaint using our dedicated 
corporate complaint procedure.

12.3  For further details on how to register a complaint, complement or suggestion, 
please see our web page detailed below.

 www.barrrowbc.gov.uk/  

12.4 Where a complaint is received about the conduct of an officer then this will be 
investigated separately to run in parallel with the enforcement investigation; 
this will ensure that there is no unnecessary delay in the enforcement 
process.

13.0 Monitoring

13.1 The Regulators Code requires that the Council publish details of performance 
against the Enforcement Policy. This should include feedback from 
satisfaction surveys and data relating to complaints and appeals against 
enforcement decisions.

13.2 To meet this requirement the various regulatory functions will provide an 
annual report on enforcement activities to the appropriate Committee.

14.0 Review of this enforcement policy

14.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years or more frequently in response 
to a significant service change or changing regulation.

Page 61

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1

http://www.barrrowbc.gov.uk/


Page 62

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee
14 October 2020

Waste Collection & Recycling Policy

 
Report from:  Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place

Report Author: Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place

Wards:  All

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 The Council has a statutory duty to collect waste from our residents homes. This 

policy sets out how we will do that to:

 Comply with statutory requirements
 Maximise the recycling of waste 
 Make it safe for our residents, members of the public and staff

1.2 As a Council we are committed to making the Borough a clean and green place 
to live.  We know that our residents have a strong sense of pride in their place.  
Our waste and recycling collection policy sets out what we all need to do to keep 
the area clean and green and contribute towards climate change and recycling.  
The adoption of the Policy will result in greater consistency in terms of service 
delivery with standards of service being clear and transparent.

Recommendation 

2.0 It is recommended that Executive Committee:

(i) Agree the Waste and Recycling Collection Policy as attached to this report; 
(ii) Implement the proposed communication and engagement  approach to 

ensure that residents are aware of the implications of the policy by January 
2021; and

(iii) Delegate to the Director of People and Place authority to make any minor 
changes to the Policy arising from any legislative or recommended practice 
changes.

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Barrow Borough Council has contracted out the delivery of its refuse and 
recycling collection service to FCC Environmental Services Ltd.  This contract 
has just over 3 years to run.  

3.2 Unlike many other areas, Barrow Council operates a weekly collection service for 
non-recyclable domestic waste.  This is collected in a 120 litre grey bin or 
through an alternative option if this is unworkable.  

3.3 The key points of the policy are as follows:  
 Residents must leave their bin at an agreed collection point by 7am on the day 

of collection and put it back on their property by the end of that collection day.   
 Extra waste put next to the bin will not be collected, except after Christmas for 

two weeks and at the discretion of the Council due to adverse weather or 
breakdowns of the bin wagons as examples.  

 An assessment process will be undertaken to provide an alternative option to 
a 120 litre grey bin where it is considered inappropriate or challenging

 Any additional capacity bins for non-recyclable waste will be reviewed and 
time limited.  

 Any unauthorised additional bins will be removed.  
 Overfilled and overloaded bins will not be emptied.  

3.4 In some instances the Council will provide communal bins.  Commercial 
businesses and registered National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) properties or 
Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) are not allowed to put waste in domestic 
bins without agreement from the Council.  The key elements in the policy are:

 Communal bins with 120 litre allowance for non-recyclable waste for each 
property will be provided

 Only 3 occupied properties will have access to a communal bin
 Placement of the communal bin will be decided by the Council in consultation 

with the landowner.  

3.5Kerbside recycling takes place every two weeks.  The Council provides a 55 litre 
brown box for mixed glass and a 240 litre red bin for recycling.  Recycling sacks will 
be provided if a red bin and brown box are unworkable options.  

3.6 In the red bin you can place the following items that must be clean and dry:

 Paper and Cardboard - except for tissues, foil wrapping paper, kitchen 
roll, toilet tissue, takeaway pizza boxes

 Tin Foil that scrunches, not crisps and biscuit wrappers
 Aluminium and Tin Cans
 Tetrapaks not the plastic lids
 Aerosol cans – not the nozzle and lids

Page 64

Agenda Item 11



 Plastic Bottles
 Plastic food trays, but not black plastic ones

3.7 In the brown box for glass, you can place glass jars with no lids and bottles that 
should be clean and dry.  

3.8 Anything else not mentioned should not be included in the recycling containers.  
Information showing what can and can’t be recycled is on the council website at 
www.barrowbc.gov.uk  This information will be re-presented as part of the 
community engagement and communications approach.    

3.9 Anything that is put in a red bin which is classed as contamination can result in 
the whole bin lorry load being rejected by the recycling reprocessor.  This is an 
additional cost to the taxpayer.  Residents can help us ‘to effectively recycle by:

 Not putting plastic bags or food wrappings of any kind in the red bin.  This is 
the biggest reason for a bin being contaminated in this borough.  

 Making sure your bin lid can’t blow open in the wind and rain get in.  Wet 
cardboard is classed as contaminated and can’t be recycled.  

 All recycling is loose in the red bin and boxes folded flat.  

3.10 As a Council working with our Contractor we are keen to encourage our 
residents to recycle as much as possible.  The purpose  of the policy is to be 
much clearer about what can be recycled, but also to set out the Council’s 
approach to enforcement if people fail to comply with requirements as set out by 
the Policy.  

3.11  The following sets out what we will do as a Council to tackle a lack of compliance:

 Bin collection crews will visually check recycling bins for contamination
 If they see minor contamination, they will remove it from the bin and put it in 

your grey bin.  They will empty your recycling bin and leave a hanger on it 
saying what the contamination was to help you know not to do it again.  

 If the bin collection crew see a lot of contamination in the bin, it will not be 
emptied.  Instead a hanger will be placed on the bin explaining why it won’t 
be collected and if the resident removes the contamination it will be picked 
up the next scheduled collection date.  The hanger will also say what 
shouldn’t have been in the bin. 

 If this happens again at the same address, a further hanger will be put on 
the bin.  An authorised officer will call at the address and offer advice on 
what can and cannot be placed in the recycling bin.  If there is no answer, 
an informal notice will be sent to the occupier.  A record of the action will be 
recorded by the council.

 If it happens again, a further hanger will be affixed and an authorised officer 
will visit again and offer further advice on what can and cannot be put in the 
recycling bin.  A formal notice against further non-compliance will be served 
and recorded on the database.  

Page 65

Agenda Item 11

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/


 Further evidence of non-compliance will mean that a Fixed Penalty Notice 
may be issued.    

3.12 Flytipping by householders.  Flytipping in back alleys in particular is a fire risk in 
Barrow.  During Covid 19, this was particularly prevalent and as a council we are 
determined where we can to enforce against it.  

3.13 The key elements of the policy are as follows:

 Where flytipping is found or reported to authorised officers, an initial check 
to ensure its not a bulky waste collection will be done

 If not, the items will be photographed and inspected to establish if there is 
 If evidence is found that would link them, the authorised officer would visit 

them to establish if there is an authorised reason for the waste items being 
deposited there.  If not, officers will undertake an interview under the Police 
and Criminal Evidence Act  (PACE).  If there is sufficient evidence a fixed 
penalty notice will be issued for £400.  

3.14 Further detail of the contents of the waste collection policy is at Appendix 1. This 
report does not cover all details, it is intended to give a snapshot of the key 
focus.  

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 There is a need to ensure that residents are given the opportunity to have a 

reminder of what they can recycle.  To enable this to happen before any 
enforcement action is undertaken as outlined in the policy, a community 
engagement plan will be implemented to ensure that residents are clear about 
what they can and cannot recycle.  It will be as comprehensive as the Council 
can make it to reach as many of our communities as possible.  A £25,000 budget 
is available for this and the following sets out some timelines for key actions.  
Action Owner Deadline By
Key promotional literature developed with 
simple pictorial guides to what you can and 
can’t recycle, including stickers for the bin lids.  

StreetCare 
Team

Mid November 
2020

Council Website Updated with above  Streetcare 
Team

Mid November 
2020

All community and resident groups including 
Parish Councils will be invited to virtual 
sessions to explain the key elements of the 
waste collection policy.

Streetcare 
Team

End 
November 
2020

Targeted Social media and communications 
campaign run predominantly virtually due to 
Covid 19 and through displaying information in 
prominent locations.   

32 West and 
Streetcare 
Team

October- 
December 
2020

Engagement with schools and youth groups Streetcare 
Team

November and 
December 
2020

Page 66

Agenda Item 11



FCC participation in any communication and 
engagement with residents and also to inform 
their own staff.  

Streetcare 
Team

October 2020

Additional actions may be identified as communities are engaged with and the 
approach will be kept under review.  

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 A “do nothing” option would mean there would be no enforcement framework for 

waste collection and a lack of commitment to climate change.  This is not 
recommended.

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 This directly contributes to a range of Council Plan priorities, in particular in 

ensuring that neighbourhoods are clean, welcoming and attractive and that our 
environment is enhanced, protected and celebrated. 

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 

A budget of £25,000 has been estimated for the publicity campaign and this will 
be drawn from the Budget Contingency Reserve.  A recurring publicity budget 
will be considered as part of budget setting.

Legal 
7.1 Under the terms of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Council is classed 

as a Waste Collection Authority and as such, under section 45(1), has a statutory 
duty to collect household waste from domestic properties.  Under section 46(4) 
of the Act the Council has specific powers to stipulate the size and type of the 
collection receptacles, where the receptacles must be placed for collecting and 
emptying and the materials or items which may or may not be placed within the 
receptacles.  The Policy sets out to make it clear to residents how the Council’s 
duty will be fulfilled and what responsibility the householder has in assisting the 
Council to discharge the duty.

7.2 The EPA also provides the Council with the power to charge for the provision of 
waste receptacles.

Equality and Diversity 
7.3Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes – the following project 

actions were identified as necessary.

Action Outcome
Evaluation of enforcement methods.  . Evidence of positive or adverse equalities 

impacts amongst different groups
Review communication methods to ensure To ensure that no indirect discrimination in 

service delivery occurs as a result of lack of 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



that they are accessible to all appropriate access to information
Community engagement project will make 
efforts to engage with groups will all 
protected characteristics

To ensure that there is input and benefits 
from/to all equalities groups.

Risk

7.4 The following main risk is below:

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Failure to adhere to the waste 
collection policy.  

Lack of effective 
enforcement action and 
confusion about what 
can be recycled. 

Effective communication 
of the content of the 
strategy and partnership 
with FCC.

Residents unclear about 
expectations on them

Complaints and disputes 
may arise

The adoption of the 
Waste Collection Policy 
will be advertised 
through various channels 
to ensure messages are 
clear

Contact Officers 
John Byford APSE 

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 
1 Waste and Recycling Collection Policy
2 

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available 

None 

Page 68

Agenda Item 11



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Barrow Borough Council 

Waste and Recycling Collection
Policy

Version One

October 2020

Page 69

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

Contents

1. Introduction
2. Standard Household Collection Service
3. Household Waste Containers
4. Alternative Non-Recyclable Domestic Collections
5. Containers Non-Recyclable Additional Capacity
6. Domestic Communal Bins Collections
7. Containers Kerbside Recycling
8. Non-Recyclable Domestic Communal Bin Collections
9. Containers Replacement due to Damage or Loss
10. Collection Point
11. Non-Recyclable Excess Waste placed next to the refuse container
12. Over-filled non- recyclable containers
13. Over-loaded non- recyclable waste bins
14. Unauthorised additional containers
15. Excess Recycling Waste presented next to the recycling container
16. Overfilled recycling bins
17. Over-loaded recycling bins
18. Contaminated Recycling Bins
19. Protocol for the issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices 
20. Fly tipping by householders

Other policies to be produced:
      Bulky and White Goods Collections

Missed Collections
Assisted Collections
Road End Collection Points
Other fly tipping
Clinical and Healthcare Waste
Offensive Waste
Hazardous Waste
Commercial & Industrial Waste
Holiday Accommodation – National Non-Domestic rates
Holiday Parks & Caravans
Permanent Caravan Residents
Bed & Breakfast and Guest Houses
Village Halls
Community Centres
Places of Worship
New Builds, Housing Developments, Change of Use and Self Builds
Private Landlords and Housing Associations

Page 70

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

1. Introduction
a. Barrow Borough Council has a statutory duty, under the Environmental Protection 

Act 1990 (as amended by the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005.)  to 
collect waste from domestic customers and from businesses where requested to do 
so, although there is none collected at this time.

b. These policies and procedures have been developed to ensure waste collections 
comply with statutory requirements, maximise recycling of waste and are carried out 
in the safest manner possible for customers, members of the public and waste 
collection staff.  

c. The operational procedures below define the standards for waste collections in 
Barrow Borough and provide the detail on how waste collections are carried out by 
the Council.

d. These policies and procedures will provide a transparent and consistent 
methodology for the management of waste collection activities to meet these aims. 

2. Standard Household Collection Service
a. Under Section 46  of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Council can specify 

the type of containers used for waste collections and the materials that can be put 
into each container. These are detailed below.

3. Household Waste Containers
a. Barrow Borough Council makes provision for the collection of resident’s non-

recyclable waste and recycling materials, through supply of appropriate containers. 
The standard size wheeled bin for a single domestic property is a 120 litre for non-
recyclable domestic waste.

4. Alternative Non-Recyclable Domestic Collections
a. Where a 120 litre wheeled bin is considered inappropriate or challenging due to any 

of the following;
 Insufficient space to store bins within the property boundary without blocking 

pedestrian or vehicular access and there is no reasonable rear or side access to 
allow off-street storage of bins.

 The nature of the property makes it impractical or unsafe to use wheeled bins.
 Bins need to be wheeled through the house from storage to collection point.
 All adult residents in the property are unable to place waste in a wheeled bin.
 It is unsafe to move the bins from the storage location to the collection point. 

However, lack of maintenance by the residents to hedges, walls, fences or paths 
is not an adequate reason.

 Any other circumstance in the judgement of the Council, including where 
alternative arrangements would improve the safety or operational efficiency of 
collections.

b. Following assessment one of the following options may be provided;
 Non-recyclable sacks (120 litres) will be provided free of charge annually to a 

predetermined quantity.  
 Residents will be permitted to present 2 x non-recyclable sacks per scheduled 

uplift. 
 Non-recyclable sacks should not contain recyclable waste.
 Communal bins where a suitable location is available.

5. Containers – Non-Recyclable Additional Capacity 

Page 71

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

a. Residents with 6 or more persons or 5 persons plus 2 children in nappies residing or 
residents that have a relevant medical condition, may request additional capacity for 
non-recyclable waste collections which will be supplied to these residents free of 
charge.

b. With respect to the provision of additional non-recyclable waste collection capacity:
 The Council shall request that the resident complete a waste diary for an agreed 

period of time. (e.g. 2 collection cycles for non-recyclable waste). 
 The resident will be asked to record the waste that they place in both recycling 

and non-recyclable waste containers. 
 A ‘Waste Diary’ pack shall be sent to the resident with instructions for completion 

and, where appropriate, a visit from a Council officer shall be provided to assist 
with the completion of the diary. 

 Upon completion and submission of a waste diary, a Council Officer shall review 
this and where appropriate to do so, the Council Officer shall visit the resident to 
provide further advice on what can be recycled and ways of reducing waste. 

 If the Council assess that the resident requires additional capacity for non-
recyclable waste, they shall deliver either an additional container or a larger 
container. 

 These additional capacity bins should be identifiable to collection crews that they 
are an additional containers that are approved by the Council.   

c. Any additional capacity bins for non-recyclable waste provided shall be time-limited 
and a review shall be carried out at the end of the agreed time limit. This will be 
carried out by means of an annual check to establish if this additional requirement is 
still required.

d. Any unauthorised additional bins will be removed. 

e. Any residents who requires additional capacity for their kerbside recycling can 
request additional bins or recycling sacks up to the maximum number outlined 
above. 

6. Non-Recyclable Domestic Communal Bin Collections
a. In some instances, communal bins may be provided as an alternative to the 

standard wheeled bins or domestic sacks.

b. Commercial businesses and registered National Non-Domestic Rate (NNDR) 
properties or Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) are prohibited from depositing 
waste in domestic bins without prior agreement by the Council.

c. In order to qualify for communal bins, the following criteria needs to be met:
 Minimum 3 occupied properties have access to communal bin.
 Enough space to accommodate this size of bin at a safe location. The placement 

of the communal bin will be decided by the council in consultation with the 
landowner.

 An allowance of 120 litre for non-recyclable waste will be permitted for each 
occupied property who has access and use of the communal collection point.  

7. Containers – Kerbside Recycling 
a. The Council currently provides 1 x 240 litre wheeled bin for plastics, metals cans. 

paper & cardboard and 1 x 55 litre box for mixed glass. Recycling sacks will be 
available for anyone who is currently supplied an annual allowance of non-
recyclable sacks.

Page 72

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

b. If resident asks for smaller bins because they don’t need large capacity, they will 
be offered 1 x 120 litre bins for dry recyclates and existing 240 litre wheeled bin 
for recyclable waste will be removed. 

c. Additional recycling bins by type will be provided if requested. If alternative 
provisions are requested, then a council officer may visit the property and make 
an assessment as to requirements.

d. Where recycling bins are considered inappropriate due to location such as 
terraced housing, flats, domestic farm properties etc., the following options may 
be provided by Barrow Borough Council after an assessment of that property by 
a Council Officer.

e. Following assessment one of the following options may be provided;
 Non-recyclable sacks (120 litres) will be provided free of charge annually to a 

predetermined quantity.  
 Residents will be permitted to present 4 x non-recyclable sacks per scheduled 

uplift. 
 Non-recyclable sacks should not contain non-recyclable waste.

f. Communal bins where a suitable location is available.

8. Non-Recyclable Domestic Communal Bin Collections
a. In some instances, communal bins may be provided as an alternative to the 

standard wheeled bins or domestic sacks.

b. Commercial businesses and registered National Non-Domestic Rate (NNDR) 
properties or Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) are prohibited from 
depositing waste in domestic bins without prior agreement by the Council.

c. In order to qualify for communal bins, the following criteria needs to be met:
 Minimum 3 occupied properties have access to communal bin.
 Enough space to accommodate this size of bin at a safe location. The placement 

of the communal bin will be decided by the council in consultation with the 
landowner.

 An allowance of 240 litre for non-recyclable waste will be permitted for each 
occupied property who has access and use of the communal collection point.

d. Where communal recycling bins are continually contaminated with non-recyclabe 
waste they may be withdrawn at the discretion of the Council

9. Containers – Replacement due to damage or loss

a. If a resident wheeled bin for non-recyclable waste, wheeled bin for recyclable waste 
or the recycling container for glass are damaged or lost either through third party or 
unknown causes, a resident may request a replacement bin or container. The 
maximum number of replacement bins or containers that each residence may obtain 
over a five-year period is:
 Three wheeled bins for non-recyclable waste.
 Three wheeled bins for recyclable waste.
 Three recycling glass containers.
 Thereafter a charge will be levied to the resident for the supply of any 

replacement containers.

Page 73

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

10. Collection Point
a. The residents waste and recycling collection services are primarily collected from the 

kerbside or nearest public road.

b. All waste bins must be placed at the agreed collection point of the property for 
collection. Bins must be presented by 7:00am on the day of collection, taking care 
not to block the footway or road. Customers should return their containers to their 
storage area within their property as soon as practicably possible after collection, at 
the latest by the end of the collection day.

c. Wheeled bins / recycling boxes or re-usable sacks left on roads, pavements or in 
rear alleys can cause inconvenience and danger to pedestrians and road users. It 
can make it particularly difficult for the disabled, visually impaired and those with 
young children and pushchairs. Therefore, residents must return their containers to 
their properties once collection has been completed. 

d. It is an offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection Act 1990 for occupiers of 
premises to leave any waste receptacle on the highway, (pavements, roads and 
backstreets) other than at times stipulated and in containers provided by the 
Borough Council or it’s contractor in order to facilitate refuse and recycling collection 
services. 

e. Receptacles may be placed on the highway from midday on the eve of collection 
until midnight on the day of collection.  At all other times waste receptacles must be 
removed from the highway and stored within the boundary of the premises.  Failure 
to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice under 
s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990  The protocol for the issuing of Fixed 
Penalty notices under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is contained is 
section 19 of this Policy.

11. Non-Recyclable Excess Waste placed next to the refuse container
a. This policy states that the Council will not collect excess waste. Excess waste is 

defined as any extra waste, which is placed next to the wheeled bin for collection, or 
where the collection is by non-recyclable sack, more than the 2 sacks permitted. 
Enforcement action may be taken against residents who attempt to dispose of their 
waste in this way.

b. The excess waste policy is in place to reduce the environmental and cost impacts of 
waste being landfilled, but also to mitigate safety hazards to collection crews, such as 
manual handling of bagged waste, risk from sharps in bags and to ensure the safe 
operation of wheeled bins on vehicle lifting equipment.

c. Excess waste also leads to littering, when it is attacked by seagulls and other 
animals and leads to environmental degradation and is very costly to remove.

d. Excess Waste will only be permitted at the discretion of the Council where, 
mechanical breakdown has incurred and the contractor is unable to collect the route, 
road closures, which limits access to roads, adverse weather such as snow or 
flooding, making the route unsafe, or otherwise authorised by the Council.

e. Excess waste will be permitted during the first 2 weeks in January to address 
additional waste generated over the Christmas and New Year festive period (up to 1 
additional refuse sack) however residents will be required to provide their own sacks.

f. If a resident produces more waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied bin or 
container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to correctly 

Page 74

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

dispose of the additional waste:
 For individual items of waste that will not fit into their container or weigh more 

than 25 kilograms, residents can request a bulky waste collection may be made 
via a Customer Service Centre (a charge will be applied depending on the 
amount and type of waste).

 Additional non-recyclable waste / recycling may be taken by the resident to their 
local household waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

f. Placing excess waste next to a waste container is not permitted, as it is disposing of 
controlled waste in a manner likely to cause pollution of the environment or harm to 
human health, and is an offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection Act 
1990. Failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty 
Notice under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. The protocol for the 
issuing of Fixed Penalty notices under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 is contained is section 19 of this Policy.

g. If excess waste is presented the collection staff will empty the residents bin and 
place the excess waste into the empty bin and affix an information hanger to the bin 
stating that excess waste is not permitted and that the excess waste has been 
placed in the residents bin and that the resident should not present excess waste in 
the future and that failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 
Fixed Penalty Notice 

12. Over-filled non- recyclable containers
a. Over filled containers can present health and safety concerns for the operators that 

have to empty them and are environmentally unacceptable. as the excess waste can 
be attacked by seagulls and other animals.

b. Where excess waste has been placed in the container and the lid cannot be easily 
closed by hand, this will be deemed to be an overfilled bin. Where a container is 
considered to be overfilled, it will be rejected at the discretion of the operator’s 
judgement. An information hanger will be attached to the bin to inform the resident 
why the container has not been emptied and give further advice on how to safely 
present waste and dispose of the excess. 

c. If a resident produces more waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied bin or 
container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to correctly 
dispose of the additional waste:
 For individual items of waste that will not fit into their container or weigh more 

than 25 kilograms, residents can request a bulky waste collection may be made 
via a Customer Service Centre (a charge will be applied depending on the 
amount and type of waste).

 Additional non-recyclable waste / recycling may be taken by the resident to their 
local household waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

g. Presenting excess waste that prevents the closure of a waste container is an 
offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection Act 1990. Failure to comply with 
the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice under s.46 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990  . The protocol for the issuing of Fixed Penalty 
notices under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is contained is section 
19 of this Policy.

h.
d. If excess waste is presented, that prevents the closure of a waste container, the 

Page 75

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

collection staff will not empty the residents container and affix an information hanger 
to the bin stating that excess waste that prevents the closure of a waste container is 
not permitted and that the resident should not present excess waste in the future and 
that failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty 
Notice.

13. Over-loaded non- recyclable waste bins
a. Where a wheeled bin is considered to be overloaded by weight, it will be rejected at 

the discretion of the operator’s judgement.  An information hanger will be attached to 
bin where the bin is deemed to be to heavy and give further advise on how to 
dispose of items not permitted to be presented in wheeled bin.

b. If a resident produces more waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied bin or 
container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to correctly 
dispose of the additional waste.
 For individual items of waste that will not fit into their container or weigh more 

than 25 kilograms, residents can request a bulky waste collection may be made 
via a Customer Service Centre (a charge will be applied depending on the 
amount and type of waste).

 Additional non-recyclable waste / recycling may be taken by the resident to their 
local household waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

c. In line with National Policy, resident should try to minimise their waste and use the 
recycling facilities provided.  Advice on recycling and reducing waste is available to 
residents by contacting the Council on 01229 876543 or visiting the Council website 
at customerservices@barrowbc.gov.uk. 

14. Unauthorised additional containers
a. Any unauthorised additional non-recyclable waste containers will not be emptied.

b. An information hanger will be attached to the unauthorised wheeled bin giving further 
advice on how to dispose of the excess waste. 

c. If a resident produces more waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied bin or 
container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to correctly 
dispose of the additional waste.
 For individual items of waste that will not fit into their container or weighs more 

than 25 kilograms, residents can request a bulky waste collection may be made 
via a Customer Service Centre (a charge will be applied depending on the 
amount and type of waste).

 Additional non-recyclable waste / recycling may be taken by the resident to their 
local household waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

d. In line with National Policy, resident should try to minimise their waste and use the 
recycling facilities provided.  Advice on recycling and reducing waste is available to 
residents by contacting the Council on 01229 876543 or visiting the Council website 
at customerservices@barrowbc.gov.uk. 

15. Excess Recycling Waste presented next to the recycling container
a. This policy states that the Council will not collect excess recycling waste. Excess 

recycling waste is defined as any extra recycling waste, which is placed next to the 
recycling container for collection. Enforcement action may be taken against residents 
who attempt to dispose of their waste in this way.

Page 76

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

b. The excess recycling waste policy is in place to reduce the environmental and cost 
impacts, but also to mitigate safety hazards to collection crews, such as manual 
handling of bagged waste, risk from sharps in bags and to ensure the safe operation 
of wheeled bins on vehicle lifting equipment.

c. Excess recycling waste also leads to littering, when it is attacked by seagulls and 
other animals and leads to environmental degradation and is very costly to remove.

d. Excess recycling waste will only be permitted at discretion of Council where, 
mechanical breakdown has incurred and the contractor is unable to collect the route, 
road closures, which limits access to roads, adverse weather such as snow or 
flooding, making route unsafe, or otherwise authorised.

e. Excess recycling waste will be permitted during the first 2 weeks in January to 
address additional waste generated over Christmas and New Year festive period (up 
to 1 additional refuse sack) however residents will be required to provide their own 
sacks.

f. If a resident produces more recycling waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied 
bin or container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to 
correctly dispose of the additional waste:
 Request additional recycling containers
 Additional recyclable waste may be taken by the resident to their local household 

waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

g.  Placing excess recycling waste next to a waste container is not permitted and is 
an offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection Act 1990. Failure to 
comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice under 
s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990  . The protocol for the issuing of 
Fixed Penalty notices under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is 
contained is section 19 of this Policy.

h. If excess recycling waste is presented the collection staff will empty the residents bin 
and place the excess recycling waste into the empty bin and affix an information  
hanger to the bin stating that excess recycling waste is not permitted and that 
additional recycling containers are available on request. The information hanger will 
also inform the resident that the excess recycling waste has been placed in the 
resident’s bin and that the resident should not present excess waste in the future and 
that failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty 
Notice.

16. Overfilled recycling bins
a. Where excess recycling waste has been placed in the container and the lid cannot be 

easily closed by hand, this will be deemed to be an overfilled container. Where a 
container is considered to be overfilled, it will be rejected at the discretion of the 
operator’s judgement. An information hanger will be attached to the bin to inform the 
resident and give further advice on how to safely present waste and dispose of the 
excess. Over filled bins can present health and safety concerns for the operators that 
have to empty them and are environmentally unacceptable as the excess waste can 
be attacked by seagulls and other animals 

b. If a resident produces more recycling waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied 

Page 77

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

bin or container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to 
correctly dispose of the additional waste:
 Request additional recycling containers
 Additional recyclable waste may be taken by the resident to their local household 

waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

h. Presenting excess waste that prevents the closure of a waste container is not 
permitted and is an offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection Act 1990. 
Failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty Notice 
under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990  . The protocol for the issuing 
of Fixed Penalty notices under s.45 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is 
contained is section 19 of this Policy.

c. If access waste is presented that prevents the closure of a waste container the 
collection staff will not empty the residents bin and affix an information hanger to the 
bin stating that excess waste that prevents the closure of a waste container is not 
permitted and that the resident should not present excess waste in the future and 
that failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed Penalty 
Notice.

17. Over-loaded recycling containers
a. Where a recycling container is considered to be overloaded, it will be rejected at the 

discretion of the operator’s judgement.  A hanger will be attached to bin where the 
container is deemed to be to heavy and give further advise on how to dispose of 
items not permitted to be presented in wheeled bin.

b. If a resident produces more waste than will reasonably fit into their supplied bin or 
container(s), then they must use one or more of the following methods to correctly 
dispose of the additional waste.
 Request additional recycling containers
 Additional non-recyclable waste / recycling may be taken by the resident to their 

local household waste recycling center (HWRC) and disposed of free of charge.

18. Contaminated recycling containers
a. The purpose of this policy is to maximise recycling by ensuring customers take 

responsibility for placing the correct materials in the correct containers.

b. A leaflet describing which materials can be placed in the recycling containers is 
available to residents and this information is also available on the Council’s website.

c. Any material put into the wrong recycling container is classed as contamination and 
may result in a whole vehicle load of recycling being rejected by the recycling re-
processor. Any rejected loads of recycling are disposed of at additional cost to the 
taxpayer.

d. Residents should contact the Council if they are unclear about what materials to put 
into each container.

e. Collection crews will visually check recycling bins for contamination before emptying 
them.

f. If minor contamination is discovered the operative will attempt to remove the 
contamination and empty the bin. An information hanger will be affixed to the bin 

Page 78

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

informing the resident that contamination was found in the bin and on this occasion 
the contamination has been removed and the bin emptied. The information hanger 
will have a list of contaminants and the operative will indicate which contaminant was 
present in the bin in order that the resident does repeat the mistake.

g. If a bin is considered to be badly contaminated, it will not be emptied.  An information 
hanger will be attached to the bin explaining why the bin was not collected. and that if 
the resident removed the contamination the container will be emptied on the next 
scheduled collection date. The information hanger will have a list of contaminants 
and the operative will indicate which contaminant was present in the bin in order that 
the resident does repeat the mistake. Placing contaminants in the recycling container 
is not permitted as it is and is an offence under s.46 of the environmental Protection 
Act 1990. Failure to comply with the above may result in receipt of a £80 Fixed 
Penalty Notice under s.46 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990  . The protocol 
for the issuing of Fixed Penalty notices under s.46 of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 is contained is section 19 of this Policy.

19. Protocol for dealing with offences under s.46A of the Environmental 

This section applies where an authorised officer of a waste collection authority in 
England is satisfied that—

(a) a person has failed without reasonable excuse to comply with a requirement imposed 
by the authority under section 46(1), (3)(c) or (d) or (4) (a “section 46 requirement”), and

(b) the person's failure to comply—

(i) has caused, or is or was likely to cause, a nuisance, or

(ii) has been, or is or was likely to be, detrimental to any amenities of the locality.

(2) Where this section applies, the authorised officer may give a written warning to the 
person.

(3) A written warning must—

(a) identify the section 46 requirement with which the person has failed to comply,

(b) explain the nature of the failure to comply,

(c) explain how the failure to comply has had, or is or was likely to have, the effect 
described in subsection (1)(b),

(d) if the failure to comply is continuing, specify the period within which the requirement 
must be complied with and explain the consequences of the requirement not being 
complied with within that period, and

(e) whether or not the failure to comply is continuing, explain the consequences of the 
person subsequently failing to comply with the same or a similar section 46 requirement.

(4) Where a written warning has been given in respect of a failure to comply that is 
continuing, an authorised officer of the waste collection authority may require the person 

Page 79

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

to whom the written warning was given to pay a fixed penalty to the authority if satisfied 
that the person has failed to comply with the section 46 requirement identified in the 
warning within the period specified by virtue of subsection (3)(d).

(5) Where a person has been required to pay a fixed penalty under subsection (4) and 
that requirement has not been withdrawn on appeal, an authorised officer of the 
authority may require the person to pay a further fixed penalty to the authority if satisfied 
that the failure to comply is still continuing at the end of a relevant period which falls 
within the period of one year beginning with the day the written warning was given.

(6) For the purposes of subsection (5)—

(a) a “relevant period” is a period beginning with the day a final notice is served on the 
person under section 46C(5) in respect of the failure to comply that is continuing and 
ending with—

(i) where the person appeals against the requirement to pay a fixed penalty imposed by 
the final notice, the day on which the appeal that is the final appeal made by the person 
against the requirement is dismissed or withdrawn;

(ii) where the person does not appeal, the day on which the period for appealing expires;

(b) there is no relevant period where the person appeals as mentioned in paragraph (a) 
(i) and the requirement to pay the fixed penalty is withdrawn on appeal.

(7) Where a written warning has been given, whether or not in respect of a failure to 
comply that is continuing, an authorised officer of the waste collection authority may 
require the person to whom the written warning was given to pay a fixed penalty to the 
authority if satisfied that, within the period of one year beginning with the day the written 
warning was given —

(a) the person has again failed without reasonable excuse to comply with the section 46 
requirement identified in the warning and the person's failure to comply has had, or is or 
was likely to have, the effect described in subsection (1)(b), or

(b) the person has failed without reasonable excuse to comply with a section 46 
requirement that is similar to the one identified in the warning and the person's failure to 
comply has had, or is or was likely to have, the effect described in subsection (1)(b).

(8) An authorised officer may require a person to pay a fixed penalty under subsection 
(5) or (7) each time that the authorised officer is satisfied of the matters mentioned in the 
subsection.

(9) An authorised officer imposing a requirement to pay a fixed penalty under subsection 
(4), (5) or (7) must act in accordance with section 46C.

(10) A “fixed penalty” means a monetary penalty of an amount determined in 
accordance with section 46B.

Page 80

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

(11) An “authorised officer”, in relation to a waste collection authority, means—

(a) an employee of the authority who is authorised in writing by the authority for the 
purpose of giving written warnings and requiring payment of fixed penalties under this 
section;

(b) any person who, under arrangements made with the authority, has the function of 
giving such warnings and requiring such payments and is authorised in writing by the 
authority to perform that function;

(c) any employee of such a person who is authorised in writing by the authority for the 
purpose of giving such warnings and requiring such payments.

Amount of penalty under section 46A and recovery of penalty

(1)The amount of the monetary penalty that a person may be required to pay to a waste 
collection authority under section 46A is—

(a) the amount specified by the waste collection authority in relation to the authority's 
area, or

(b) if no amount is so specified, £60.

The amount specified by Barrow Borough Council is £80.

(2) A waste collection authority may make provision for treating a fixed penalty under 
section 46A as having been paid if a lesser amount is paid before the end of a period 
specified by the authority. The lesser amount to be paid s specified by Barrow 
Borough Council is £40.
Penalties under section 46A: procedure regarding notices of intent and final notices

(1) Before requiring a person to pay a fixed penalty under section 46A, an authorised 
officer must serve on the person notice of intention to do so (a “notice of intent”) in 
accordance with subsections (2) to (4).

(2) A notice of intent must contain information about—

(a) the grounds for proposing to require payment of a fixed penalty,

(b) the amount of the penalty that the person would be required to pay, and

(c) the right to make representations under subsection (3).

(3) A person on whom a notice of intent is served may make representations to the 
authorised officer as to why payment of a fixed penalty should not be required.

(4) Representations under subsection (3) must be made within the period of 28 days 
beginning with the day service of the notice of intent is effected.

(5) In order to require a person to pay a fixed penalty under section 46A, an authorised 
officer must serve on the person a further notice (the “final notice”) in accordance with 
subsections (6) to (8).

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

(6) A final notice may not be served on a person by an authorised officer before the 
expiry of the period of 28 days beginning with the day service of the notice of intent on 
the person was effected.

(7) Before serving a final notice on a person, an authorised officer must consider any 
representations made by the person under subsection (3).

(8) The final notice must contain information about—

(a) the grounds for requiring payment of a fixed penalty,

(b) the amount of the penalty,

(c) how payment may be made,

(d) the period within which payment is required to be made (which must not be less than 
the period of 28 days beginning with the day service of the final notice is effected),

(e) any provision giving a discount for early payment made by virtue of section 46B(2),

(f) the right to appeal under section 46D, and

(g) the consequences of not paying the penalty

Appeals against penalties under section 46A

(1) A person on whom a final notice is served under section 46C may appeal to the First-
tier Tribunal against the decision to require payment of a fixed penalty.

(2) On an appeal under this section the First-tier Tribunal may withdraw or confirm the 
requirement to pay the fixed penalty.

(3) The requirement to pay the fixed penalty is suspended pending the determination or 
withdrawal of the appeal that is the final appeal made by the person against the decision 
to require payment of the penalty.

(This is subject to subsection (4).)

(4) Where the requirement to pay the fixed penalty is confirmed at any stage in the 
proceedings on appeal, payment must be made before the end of the period of 28 days 
beginning with the day on which the requirement is so confirmed unless the person 
makes a further appeal before the end of that period.

(5) The reference in subsection (4) to the requirement to pay the fixed penalty being 
confirmed on appeal includes a reference to an appeal decision confirming the 
requirement to pay the fixed penalty being upheld on a further appeal.

20. Fly tipping by householders
a. The purpose of this policy is to deal with fly tipping by residents from their household 

properties. Although side waste could be classified as fly tipping, this procedure is to 
deal with waste items, other than side waste, that are placed on land in contravention 
of Section 33 (1) ( a ) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

Page 82

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

b. Where an incidence of fly tipping is found by or reported to authorised officers, they 
will initially check that there is not a Bulky Waste collection arranged for any of the 
adjacent properties. If no Bulky Waste collection is arranged, they will photograph 
the fly tipped waste items and inspect them to establish if there is any evidence that 
would link the items to an individual, company or property. If evidence is found it will 
be photographed insitu and them retained by the officers.

c. Where  evidence is found that would link the items to an individual, company or 
property, the authorised officers will visit the individual named or the occupier of any 
property identified, to establish, if there is an authorised reason, for the waste items 
being deposited on land in contravention of Section 33 (1) ( a ) of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. If there is no authorised reason the officers will undertake an 
interview, under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE). Where sufficient 
evidence is obtained a fixed penalty of £400 may be issued under Section 33ZA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

d. If the fine is paid within 10 days, the amount will be reduced to £200.

e. Should the Fixed Penalty Notice not be paid within 14 days of the date of issue, legal 
proceedings for prosecution will be initiated.

f. Payment by way of instalments will be allowed and no legal proceedings initiated 
provided the Fixed Penalty Notice is paid in full within10 weeks from the date of the 
issue of the Fixed Penalty Notice.

g. Where no evidence is found that would link the fly tipped items to an individual, 
company or property, the authorised officers, and the waste items are adjacent to a 
particular property, the officers will call at that address to establish if the occupiers 
have any knowledge of the waste items. If the occupiers of the property admit that 
the waste items have been deposited by them, they will be requested to move them 
back on to their property and advised as to how they can legally dispose of their 
waste through either a Bulky Waste collection or at their local HWRC. 

h. Where the occupier of the property adjacent states that they are not responsible for 
depositing the waste items, they will be asked if they have any knowledge of who did 
deposit the waste items. If the occupiers can provide information, this will be 
investigated by the officers. 

i. Where the occupiers state that they have no knowledge of the incident, they will be 
informed that further enquiries in the area will be undertaken and that if the waste is 
of 3 cubic meters or less, the waste items will be cleared as part of the next 
scheduled street cleanse, in accordance with the current street cleansing contract, or 
where a fly tip is of more than 3 cubic meters it will be cleared as soon as practicable 
after the investigations have been completed.

j. Where the occupier of the property adjacent to the fly tipped waste items is not 
available the authorised officer will leave a card stating:
‘Items of waste have been left adjacent to your property.
Council records indicate that you are not awaiting a special 
collection. Therefore, if these items have emanated from this 
address, please bring them back within the confines of your 
property, within 24 hours.
If the items of waste are not yours and/or you have any 
information as to the owner of this waste, please contact

Page 83

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

the Council on 01229 876543, in order that further investigations
as to its origins can be made.’

k. If the occupier of the property contacts the Council, the authorised officer will act on 
any information given and interview any persons that are implicated in the incident 
with a view to getting those responsible to remove the items or where necessary 
issue a fixed penalty notice under Section 33ZA of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990.

l. If the occupier of the property contacts the Council and states that the waste items 
are not theirs, they will be informed that further enquiries in the area will be 
undertaken and that if the waste is of 3 cubic meters or less, the waste items will be 
cleared as part of the next scheduled street cleanse, in accordance with the current 
street cleansing contract, or where a fly tip is of more than 3 cubic meters it will be 
cleared as soon as practicable after the investigations have been completed. 

Page 84

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



PART ONE
Barrow Borough Council 

Executive Committee 
14 October 2020

COVID-19 Self-Isolation Payments

 
Report from:  Director of Resources

Report Author: Director of Resources

Wards:  None

1.0 Summary and Conclusions 
1.1 From 28 September 2020, individuals are entitled to a Test and Trace Support 

Payment or discretionary support payment of £500.  This is to support people on 
low incomes who are unable to work from home if they are told to self-isolate by 
NHS Test and Trace and will lose income as a result.

1.2 These payments are designed to help ensure people who have tested positive 
for COVID-19 and their close contacts self-isolate for the required period to stop 
the onward spread of the virus.  They are also designed to encourage individuals 
who are eligible for this payment to get tested if they have symptoms.  This is 
important to help stop the transmission of COVID-19 and avoid further economic 
and societal restrictions.

1.3 The scheme started from 28 September 2020, and local authorities should have 
arrangements in place to administer payments by 12 October 2020.  Someone 
told to self-isolate on or after 28 September (but before the scheme is 
operational in their local authority) will need to be able to make a backdated 
claim for payment.  The scheme will last until 31 January 2021.

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:- 

1. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources to implement and 
administer the COVID-19 Self-Isolation Payments scheme; and

2. Delegate authority to the Director of Resources to set any additional 
criteria for the discretionary payments.

Page 85

Agenda Item 12



3.0 Background and Proposals 
3.1 Eligibility

3.1.1 Eligibility for a £500 Test and Trace Support Payment is restricted to people who:

 have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, 
either because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently 
been in close contact with someone who has tested positive;

 are employed or self-employed;
 are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result; and
 are currently receiving Universal Credit, Working Tax Credit, income-based 

Employment and Support Allowance, income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance, 
Income Support, Housing Benefit and/or Pension Credit.

3.1.2 For both the Test and Trace Support Payment and discretionary payments, 
eligible individuals will receive their £500 payment on top of any benefits and 
Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) that they currently receive.

3.2 Backdating

3.2.1 Eligibility for the NHS Test and Trace Support Payment, including discretionary 
payments, is for people who are told to self-isolate on or after 28 September 
2020 and who meet the relevant eligibility criteria.

3.2.2 Residents in local authorities who do not have arrangements in place to 
administer the payment from 28 September 2020 will be able to claim 
retrospectively, as long as their period of self-isolation began on or after this 
date.

3.2.3 Local authorities should not accept applications from people told to self-isolate 
before 28 September 2020, even if the period of self-isolation continues after 28 
September.

3.3 Applications from members of the same household

3.3.1 People in the same household can each make an individual application to 
receive the payment, if they each meet the eligibility criteria.

3.4 Multiple claims

3.4.1 Some individuals could be asked to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace more 
than once.

3.4.2 Someone can claim more than once (if they are told to self-isolate multiple 
times), as long as they meet the eligibility criteria for each individual claim and 
their periods of self-isolation do not overlap.

Page 86

Agenda Item 12



3.4.3 For example, if someone claims for a period of self-isolation lasting from 1 
October to 14 October and then claims again for a second period of self-isolation 
beginning on 10 October, they would only be allowed to claim once, because the 
two periods overlap.  However, they would be allowed to claim for a second 
period of self-isolation that began after the first period had ended on 14 October. 
Local authorities may wish to consider keeping a record of individuals who make 
multiple claims to guard against potential fraud.

3.5 Applications made after someone’s period of self-isolation has ended

3.5.1 Eligible individuals can make a claim up to 14 days after their period of self-
isolation started.  Local authorities should not accept applications after this point. 
For example, a person who is instructed by NHS Test and Trace on 1 October to 
stay at home and self-isolate must have applied for the Test and Trace Support 
Payment by 15 October.

3.6 Third-party applications

3.6.1 Applicants can apply on behalf of someone else; however, the £500 must be 
paid into a bank account in the name of the person for whom the application is 
being made.  For example, if someone applied on behalf of a parent, the 
payment would be made into the parent’s bank account.

3.7 Applicants who are self-isolating who haven’t been told to self-isolate by NHS 
Test and Trace

3.7.1 Local authorities should only consider applications from individuals who have a 
valid notification from NHS Test and Trace telling them to stay at home and self-
isolate.

3.8 Applicants who are quarantining after returning to the UK

3.8.1 The Test and Trace Support Payment scheme does not cover people who are 
self-isolating after returning to the UK from abroad, unless they have tested 
positive for coronavirus or have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by 
NHS Test and Trace.

3.9 Application process

3.9.1 Local authorities need to have arrangements in place to process and verify 
applications, issue payments to successful applicants and prevent and detect 
fraud.

3.9.2 Each local authority will need to have its own online application system – and an 
alternative system for non-digital users.

3.9.3 To apply, applicants will complete an online form (or a telephone application if 
digitally excluded) and provide:

Page 87

Agenda Item 12



 a notification from NHS Test and Trace asking them to self-isolate;
 proof of receipt of one of the qualifying benefits;
 a bank statement (as a basic up-front fraud check); and
 proof of employment or, if they are self-employed, evidence of self-

assessment returns, trading income and proof that their business delivers 
services which cannot be undertaken without social contact.

3.9.4 Once all evidence has been verified, the local authority should pay the applicant 
£500.  If the applicant meets all the criteria for the Test and Trace Support 
Payment, they should be paid from the main fund.

3.9.5 If the applicant does not receive any of the qualifying benefits but meets all the 
other criteria, is on a low income and will face hardship because they cannot 
work while self-isolating, local authorities can make a discretionary payment. 
Local authorities will need to determine what additional evidence they require for 
discretionary payments, which will depend on any additional criteria they have 
used.  

3.9.6 All Test and Trace Support Payments and discretionary payments should be 
made within three days of the local authority receiving an eligible application.

3.10 Discretionary payment

3.10.1 Local authorities can make a £500 discretionary payment to individuals who:

 have been told to stay at home and self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, 
either because they have tested positive for coronavirus or have recently 
been in close contact with someone who has tested positive;

 are employed or self-employed; and
 are unable to work from home and will lose income as a result.

3.10.2 In addition, the discretionary payment is for people:

 who are not currently receiving Universal Credit, Working Tax Credit, income-
based Employment and Support Allowance, income-based Jobseeker’s 
Allowance, Income Support, Housing Benefit and/or Pension Credit; and

 who are on low incomes and will face financial hardship as a result of not 
being able to work while they are self-isolating.

3.10.3 Local authorities can introduce additional criteria to determine eligibility for 
discretionary payments in their area, as long as these operate in addition to, 
rather than instead of, the criteria set out above.

3.10.4 It is proposed that any additional criteria will be considered Cumbria-wide.

Page 88

Agenda Item 12



3.11 Implementation

3.11.1 In order to operate the payment scheme it is proposed that the Director of 
Resources is delegated to implement and administer the COVID-19 Self-
Isolation Payments scheme; and to set any additional criteria for the 
discretionary payments.

3.11.2 There are a number of aspects required to implement these payments:

 software changes;
 application design;
 process and verification design;
 discretionary criteria;
 staff training;
 access to NHS system;
 payment process and HMRC outputs;
 reporting and compliance requirements; and
 Website and social media content.

4.0 Consultation 
4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the content of this report.

5.0 Alternative Options 
5.1 The Test and Trace Support Payment scheme and discretionary payments must 

be implemented by 12 October 2020.

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities 
6.1 The recommendations intend to support those in work and on low incomes that 

are required to self-isolate due to COVID-19.

7.0 Implications 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
7.1 The government has allocated £36,500 for Test and Trace Support Payments, 

and £22,044 for discretionary payments - the discretionary payments pot is a 
finite amount.  There will also be a payment towards the administration burden of 
£25,431.

Legal 
7.2 There are no legal implications from the recommendations contained within the 

report.  

Page 89

Agenda Item 12



Equality and Diversity 
7.3 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the Council is 

implementing a government scheme and all applications will be considered 
against the scheme.

Risk
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Challenge to application 
process.

Resources used to deal 
with queries rather than 
administering 
applications.

Clear and concise 
application, verification 
and award process.

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Cash limited discretionary pot. The application process 

closes when funds run 
out.

Consistency in the 
verification process.

Monitoring.
Risk Consequence Controls required 
Scheme does not open on 12 
October 2020.

Failure to meet 
government 
expectations.

Applications cannot be 
processed and 
payments cannot be 
made

Action plan.

Contact Officers 
S M Roberts, directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk

Background Documents Available
Name of Background document Where it is available 

1 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-
package-to-support-and-enforce-self-isolation

 

Page 90

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-package-to-support-and-enforce-self-isolation
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-package-to-support-and-enforce-self-isolation

	Agenda
	2 Urgent Items
	Invitation for Cumbria Urgent Item Appendix

	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	HMF09SEPT20

	9 Draft Building Safety Bill
	labc-building-safety-bill-briefing
	Proposed.Building.Safety.Regime.

	10 Corporate Enforcement Policy
	Corporate Enforcement Policy_Appendix 1

	11 Waste and Recycling Collection Policy
	FINAL DRAFT amended byJB05102020

	12 COVID-19 Self-Isolation Payments

